e S s Rpmereese.
o o
R e
= T e "
R I it

' 2 0 88 4
1/

STAR

§96

CASE



Domenico Alderisio

Anselmo Veoochio

Domenico Alderisio, rescalled

Antonia Viggiano
Prank Gentile

Peter

0

-

Alderisio

A7
22

«t INDEX iﬂ
Direct.




(PR -------—-—--‘-.“.“

s,  The People of the State of New.
York

-V 8-

ANTONIO DE ROSA

¥
i
I i S

W an - - - —————— ----“-----M

Before:

Appearance s:

For the People, Assistant District “ 7
J. Kresel,. &

For the Defendant, Mr. John Palmieri.

"

3
1
he |
e

:
3



being duly sworn, testified u‘ﬂm.
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KRESEL: |
Q Where do you live? ;”m
Street. . |
Q@ What is your business? A lhmq
Q@ Do you know the defendant?
Q How long have you known him? A

Q
Q@ What is it? A He etrrill o]
Q
Q

g Do you know where %he dotamhut 7 _ |
Where? A I knew that he used to un ! iﬁt
December, 19047 A Yes lir. PR,
Q@ It was the day after Christmas, j'-lﬂ."' it? ‘
sir. ;
Q VWas the defendant living in the same mo wg
“ are now living at that time? A Yes lir. ¢ X il i;

the 26th of December, 19047 A At cleven o'clock in the

evening.

Q About eleven o'clock at night? A Yes sir.



you and for a cart”; I did nos say more M

however, and I ssked him, "What rouoa m

I was moying away but hardly had I -« two
fired three shots from a revolver, one of ”M
the arm. A Wi

Q Which arm? A In the left arms

Q Where were you at the time when the shots lt“
you? A I was face to face with him so far as thap.at
of the persons is conoerﬁad.

Q VWere you nemr the water closet? A In the vumw
of the water closet. ~

Q How far away from you was the defendant? A About

e

four metres. -4
How long 5%
Q  After you first saw the defendant in the hallway ﬂg



%0 run to. a doetor, erying nttht! was .

awayé
Q Where did you go then after the defen
A There happened nothing else.

Q@ Where did you go? A I went to the

Q What doctor? A He is here; I don't re

Q Dr. Vecchio? A I don't remember his names
Q How many times did you go to the doetor? A

times. |
Q@ What di: the doctor do to your arm? A m:
t inued to nurse myself, to treat myself.
Q What did the dector do to your arm? A He medi a
it. o
THE COURT: What dc¢c you mean by that?
THE WITNESS: Well he washed the wound and he
applied bandages. |

BY MR. KRESEL: 4

Q Now, when was the next time after this -hoot(u m

you saw the defendant? A I saw him in Court and then omge

Ny & ?f\':{



I went to his house in order to have him &

Q Was that before you Mh!.n in the h‘_

A Yes sir. y Y

Q How long after the shooting did you go il

A After about .one day and a half.

’

Q Did you find him in the house? A Yes sire

Q Did you have him arrested then? A m

Q@ Did you ever have ay trouble dﬁl this “
before this shooting? A Never. .

Q You still live in the house, 2076 Fir:

A Yes sir. * A i

Q Doee the defendant live there now? l*xii‘ﬁifﬁgff

MR. PAIMTERT: I object te that as aup

THE COURP: We will stop here. '%du

recess. | ' |

(The Court admonished the Jury'anlkiﬁgtwd f!ﬁ

cess. )

- -



APTBER RRCESS .

DOMENICO ALDERISTO, avitness for the
resumes the stand. 7 "
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, PAIMIERI:

Q What floor do you occupy in that house

were shot? A On the second floory

Q 1Is that the same floor upon which you vm
a friend? A No sir; the floor was below. ot
Q So that upon that svening you left your
or rooms on the second floor and you m.ﬁ
of steps and you went down to see your tlllull who
the floor below, is that correct? A But I had M
before that in the house of this fri;nd and ;i,t wa.s m _
coming out of the house of this friend that the uw T
took place. " ‘
Q The occurrence took place on the same floor where
you had visited this friend? A Yes sir; on the same “"',
Q How many people were visiting that friend of yours?
A It was I and anmother one and we were engaged in a fﬂmd-
ly conversation. ‘ i
“  Q You had been there for how long before you came out
to go away? A Over two hours,

Q@ You remember that this was Christmas day, that $~

Sy g ‘ "
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or not.
Q Thatduyyouutn‘t“mm.t

A Imnotatwrkmtmw-

Q During those two hours in your

drink anything?

Objected to,
Objection enﬂ'?h&. k
A XNo sir. |
Q Before that on that day d!.d you m iy
Objee ted to.
Objection overruled, : + i
A Vell, just a couple of glasses with the meals ” ﬂ
habit to do. o
Q A couple of glasses of red wine or beer? A
Q You are not married, are you? A No siry

Q@ What is the name of this friend you were

A Yever.

Q@ Who told you where he worked?
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where he worked.
Q Didn't you say that he is a labderer? A

7 S
»

been informed what his trade wass

Q@ What is his tudo? A A ll'b‘"’l‘a e

AR

Q Eow do ym know mzv A m by m

A A couple of times. W o
Q During all the time that you nni'h m m
you only saw him a souple of times uﬁﬂu fm w
A 7Yes sir; I saw him & couple of tines and 4id l.'! m
absolutely great attentiom to it as he was entirely & foi
er to me, a stranger to me, v '
Q Up to the day of the shooting this «m mt
perfect stranger to you, wasn't he, up to the moment ‘
the shooting? A Yes sir; of course he was a stranger to
me .
Q You judged from the appearance ef his clothes, when
he came from work, that he was a laborer and that is the

only reason that you have forjudging ofhis cccupation?



j Yu sir; from the appearance of his Wl&q»
‘»"V
Q@ What time did yai mnhmthm*

home from work? A About noon time.

him? A At the same hour. ; ’

Q At the noom hour? A Yes sirj -or- .l‘ M
around noon. s
Q Don't. vyou know that this defenmt Mﬂl!‘
for his meals at all? A I do not know whether ho mt )
home for hismeals or not but the fact is that I saw him

coning home at that time,

the last time? A I do not know, fifteen or twenty M

thirty days, I was there two months,

fendant a word, did you? A No sir.
Q At what part of the building did you see him?

A It was within the house, for instance, I was mm

P

Lig

and he was going upstairs.
Q What is vouroccupation? A A shoemaker.

Q Do you work as a journeyman shoemaker or have ya



where did ycu work as a uhcenkoﬂ & E

time with my brother.

Q Where? A It was in Brook Avemue, I e

actly state the number.

Q That is quite some miles away from m .
A Sure.

: Q@ What were you deing at tho noon w :&t
while this defendant was there? A I slept M ‘SD t

yard because in that house there is another b;nm:» of
living.

Q@ You slept there? A Yes sir.

.

Q What were you doing at the moon hour iam that »

A Where in that house?

- SRR
- »> 5

Q In vourhouse, in the house where you woro shot “
the occasion when you saw this defendant? A I was W‘
[ in a friendly conversation.
Q VWhen this defendant was going up upon those two Qq-
casions and you coming down no altercation was had \nm
yourself and him? A No air?

Q You are positive that you never had any fight with



Q tou ecaused this m’p Wlt hﬂ “ _
pecember, 1901. did ym uﬂ 1 Yes m, @
Q That is muudmwrm"

A Yes sir.

Physician, did you? A Yes sir; and Ahlh W
@ Did- you wmlk to the doctorts uf{!lﬂ*ﬁw
walking. ' S
Q Where is the doptoﬁqn Offinf f hm
Pirst Avenue. B o :
QMfcrmtm%htMﬂ’AIOﬂuﬂiﬂfw
exactly but it seems to me it was some ﬂn m. "'7,; ,5
Q You went five blecks to be drolqd by this m«*"
g¢ian on the evening that you were shot boron ”ﬂpt u :
officer? A Yes gir.
Q ;l that the officor you got? A It u‘;mihor
one. : : g
Q Didn't you go with that officer twe days d'w

this wceurrence to this defendant‘s house and lﬁ his ﬂf'

not g with him.



i
b W

n&ned outside and he asked fﬂ' ﬁ“
wrt!.ag. from his wife? A kt officer
when he went upstairs I do mot know mg
he did. | " :
Q You did not go up At-‘o tdentify this
you? A Not with the officer. ¢
Q Then you returned again with that
evening, when thil‘QOfcndlnt had come M
go to his home again, didn'.fjni?_ AI ”
with the officer in his house. | e

Q So that for two long days after th“

never took any officer to this house to ;mﬂ.fr @
whom you claim shot you?

[ THE COURT:

officers went themselves to the pa.rwntn of this Ml!
remained in my apartment. Then they called me and T ¥
Q When was it that you went there? A When m
cer arrested hirm and brought him downat dre. i
BY MR, PAIMIERI:
Q FHow long after the shooting was that? A 3‘53’

already it was after, one and a half or tvo dayh



hallway in which you were lhb” I.
tion of a lamp -- ;

MR. PAIMIERT: T move to etri)
, THE WITNESS: There was a 1
i from the panes behind which M 7a

' families and there was plenty of
everything.
Q I asked you Mthcmwbwvﬂ‘

in the hallway at eleven O‘GW tluf

AT

- ' Q 'rhero was a gas jet mu mm :
wasn't it, at that time? A Yes li&

Q The only illumination that’ mrﬂm

well see sven the grounde.
THE COURT: Strike that outs ‘
Q (nepeated)? A But thore vere panes on glass on
the doors low so that the light came on the floorj e
Q@ Veren't the fan-lights on top of the wﬂg m
or no? A No, they were not'on the top of the deorsy ﬁ‘r

light came from the doors,



Q The doors were olosed or open? A T

but they were of glass.

oceurrence took place was in the middle of m

sir.
Q Was anyhody else in company with you
in this hallwmay? A No sir, nobodye i
Q The only two persons in the hallway ;ﬁm
this occurrence was yourself and the datM*
sir.
Q When you were shot by the mm m
ing away out of that hallway, you were W away,
you? A I had just made two stepse
Q Forward? A Yes sir. . i ?., |
Q Then you heard the report of a pistol, um
yes or no? A Of course because it was near, fmm “

*

there, as it were,
Q You were advancing and you were going away, you (
were facing the door when you heard the thm shots th
edly, one, two, three, one after the other? A I was fac~
ing him; I was facing him and somehow sideways, Jjust with
the hand to the door,
Q That is you were fao?ng him and you were not fqnllg

him, is that {t? A Well suppose he is there and I am



here at the door, closing the door of the water el
then I said to him -« ' |
= Q I want to know the positions? A mim the . D

tion (1llustrating).

ing at him -~ R
Q The defendant had already passed you, didn't he?
A He was standing as it were there. . e
Q@ Then when you said you advanced two ur m r 1
steps -- when did you advance those two or m Qr four
steps? A Well just in turning the key, hn‘tw h
key in the pocket at this time I had made twe Cﬁnpiﬁ
Q During alil this time you turned the key, you ¢
ed the door and you had advanced two steps tor!ifﬂgrﬁ!
correct, when vou heard the report of the piatelf ';‘f
sir; while talking with him. |
Q Were you talking loud? A Not very loud lm‘l'i*

& voice that was in a state of excitement.

ing could hear it, is that correct? A Not so louds

BY MR. KRESEL:



the defondant coming upstairs. “u you uni " ST

tion? A I jiut came out , was coming out.

| fgﬂ, Q@ You were working then for your hfﬁtilf,'f.
ot were you working on those days? A‘ No sir; bl’ii‘t;A

i only a short time that I came in this eomtryﬁﬁ _
é Q How long have you been in this oountr!fﬁéim
% about four months. B

Q This defendant was arrested on the 28th of

is that right? A Yes sir. | ;

Q@ Imnediately after the shooting youllttgyif;!!h&
i a doctor, is that right? A 1 reached tlrat my
0

and then I went to the doctor after a few words I exchanged
in the house.

Q After vou left the doctor where did you go? A I

A e e e e

immediately went to the police,

Q@ But the arrest was not made until two days after,
is thatbright? A Yes sir.

BY MR, PAIMIERI:

that night?
Objected to.

Objection sustained. Exception.



-

Q@ Do you know that this MM nm §
four years with his family ef’.h&!lr&i? A 'lﬁfﬁgfi"uﬁ

not know that.

floor of this house? A No sir.

LS
.

ANSELMO VECCEHTIO, a witness ocalled by and &

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, KRESEL:
Q Where do you 1live? A I live First Avenue, 113

Street on the corner.

Q First Avenue and 113th Street? A' YVes lir;‘ﬂiﬁﬂu ;

Q What is youroccupation? A Dector. .

Q You are a physician? A Ybl’alr; t‘phylﬁoiunq |

Q You are duly admitted to practice medicine in th&ﬂff
gstate? A Yes sir. A -

Q How long have you been a physician? A About tiuak'
teen months.

Q Do vou know the complaining witness, Alderisio?
A Yes sir.

Q Do yvou remember seeing him in the month of Doclihmr> 
1004? A Yes sir.

Q What date was it, if you remember? A It was &

e S



shot wound. e

e 'Q What date was 1% whem YO® MW him
Th s understand you. ‘
Q What date was it when you saw him? l

think the 27th of December.

»

b

Q The 27th? A I don't remember r&ght,j m
night of the 27th or the morming, you know, m
the 27th of December. 3

Q The 27th of December? A Yes sir,

Q Of what year? A Last year.

Q 19047 A Yes sir.

Q .Where was it that you saw him?
drug store, my office.

Q@ In your office? A TYes sir, ’ »

Q First Avenue and 113th Street? A Yes dn,

Q What did you do? A Oh, I saw him ucmh-
shot wound in the forearm, in the left fbm Sy

Q He had a shot wound? A Yes sir; in the left
arm. |

¥

Q What did you do then? A Well, T seen him; g )
on an antiseptic dressing, I washed the wound, " A‘ :
Q You washed the wound and dressed 1t? A “
Q Did you probe for th? bullet? A Ne “";",' k

ed and nothing was inside. W



- l«n"""“'t‘""mr ) -
T

Q You did probe then? A Yes sir. 4
s h Q Was the wound a bullet wound? A If ﬁﬁh
& wound , you know., ‘ |
e Q A little wound? A Sometimes I speak It
Q (Repeated)? A Yes sir.
Q How many times did you treat him? A
about three times.
@ You dressed his wound every time? A ‘l’unw
Q Do you know thia defendant? A Yr.l‘ sir; I‘M
the defendant. :
Q@ Do vou know him? A Yes sir. |
[ bt Q How long have you known De Rosa? A MC ﬂ
I don't know him, : |
Q You don't know him? A No sir, I den't know him
Q@ Do you know Alderisio? A Yes sir. 7 L,

Q How long? A About one year but nct thislky wﬂ.y

| I know only the brother.

pecember 27th.

Q Since you treated him? A Yes sir.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, PAIMIERI:

% :
Q@ What time in the morning did this ‘man come to have

his wound dressed? A About half past nine.



the first time.
Q@ Sure about that? A Yes sir.
Q You canmnot be mistaken? A No lh"i

-

when he came up for the first time, is thﬁ“.

Q It was at half past nine in the ﬁoﬂdht ‘ﬂlﬂ ‘hi
came to you? A Yes sir; in the morning at nine or h,’
past nine.
Q You cannot be mistaken about thq'norniﬁgf A fl@

sir.

BY MR, KR-SEL:
Q@ Did he come to you the night before? A No sirs
Q Did he come to you at any time during the night?
A Yes sir; he came, he rang my bell but I was asleep lﬂ
I didn't see him; he was thoro, he told me; in the m

he told me.



MR, PAIMIERI: I move to
hearsay.
e BY THE COURT:
Q You didn't see him when he rang mf
sir.
THE COURT: Strike it out, The Jur
regard any evidence touching the rin‘ll!
: | bell. » |
BY MR. KRESEL:
Q You saw him on the 27th in the umxm .
I am not sure about that, yom know, but in the 1.
sure.

Q It was in the morning? A Yes siry

mrning? A Yes sir.

Q You did not see him the night before? A No sirs

Q@ Do you know whether he was there the night mﬁ
A Because he told me, the brother of this Mr¢ m:-m- 5
sald to me, told me.

THE COURT: 8Strike that out,

Q@ 718 that the only way that vou know he was there ' :: :
the night before? A The oniy R e \
BY MR, PAIMTERI: .

Q@ You did not dress any wound upon that man. the M



before? A No sir.

any medical attention to this man was at half

the morning either of the 26th or 27th of W

Q Positive about that? A Yes sir; positive,

DOMENICO ALDERTSIO, the conpia
ealled.
BY MR. PAIMIERI: |
Q I8 this the doctor tha§ attonddd your
first time? A Yes sir. V |
5 | Q Did you hear this doctor's testimony mt M
‘: ; there at half past nine in the morning to M” m A
' dressed? A I didn't hear him. w

BY MR. KRESEL:

shooting did you find the doctor home? A On that night
Directly after the shooting I did not go to this MW
3 we went to another doector, and the following mormming we
| went to him. :

Q VWVho was the other doctor? A I do not know M
his name is. |

Q@ Vho went with you? A My brother.
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Q What is his name? A Baverio Aldnrlm,{;'v'

Q iu he here? A No sir. :
BY MR. PAIMIERI:

-Q Didn't you say "I went up to Veoihio'.‘ Ilﬂl&i i)
Dr. Anselmo Vecchio? A Yes sir,

Q Did you testify as follows before recess
night I went to Dr. Veechio's office about "

and he dressed my wound"? A No sirj I uu

dence? A Yes sir; I said that Dr. Veechie trﬁm ﬂ
Q (Repeated)? A Yes sir. . v
Q Did you not ’nuy @ follows: “After I} m m
chio's office then I went to the station hnuo'fv A I’,; .
that as soon as I left the doctor's he treated me, I
to the police. . v
Q Was the doctor who treated you an Italian doctor?
A Yes sir. |
Q How far was he from Dr, Vecchio's office? A“!hﬂi'
are nearly neighbors.

Q Is it in a drug store or on the First floor? A
. ;

e

a drug store,

Q Ko ambulance phys ician treated you? A No sin.



Q When vou mt to

called for you? A Ko lil‘.

2
+ 5

i Q Whe did you speak to at the statien on he
Objeoted to. '

M S it po s et

Objection sustained.

ANTONIA VIGGIANO, awitness

behalf of the People, being duly sworn,
lows,
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KRESGEL: l

s

A ¥Yo. 2076 FPirst Avenue.

Q Do you remember Christmas day? A IW
b ‘christmas day, alsd the fellewing day.

b\

; Q Do you remember seeing this defendant. m ‘ho
after Christmas? A Yes sir; not during thﬁidtvb

lived at the first landing.
Q Youummmtmkw“mmﬂ; m
up? A Yes sir; at the --“3 of the Mth‘ I wf#%ﬂ*

bar-room. A K |2 N




wpeef

night, is that right? A Yes sirs

Q@ When vou heard this noise that vyou

did you do? A In that moment I was littﬁl‘ T
stove when I heard the three reports, I W&N
looked at it and I saw the defendant passing.
Q Whieh way was he passing, de«v
A Downstairs; he was going outtfthow i
Q@ Out of the building? A Yes sir.

Q What did you do then? A I ocloBed the door and

]

tired agaln inside. . rix
Q Just how was the defendant dressed whem you saw
him going out of the building? A He M on his mtm
I didn't pay muech attention .b'out his garments bdbut ! w
nized him on opening the door frém the light that :tn“
into the man's face. I recognized him by his face. 7
Q Did he have an overcoat on? A Yes #ir; he ‘{u‘ a
coat, that is such a coat a8 is worn in the Winter Mﬂm

but I didn't pay much attention as to how he was MII“I'_
il ) ;

L

saw his face,

Q How soon after you heard these shots dild.you Bee



35 SRS
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the time of the motion. SRt

the defendant? A Well neo tb.om a

2

Q Do you know Domenieco m‘rt_'h?‘ A

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. PAIMIBRI: = .
Q@ Does this defendant ever m Wﬂw P
A Sometimes he came, sometimes he did nots +

Q@ When was the last time he drank with m’
Objected to. ” i

§

¥

Q When was the last time you u'hh in your
A A long time. ; ' |
Q How long? A I don't knowe I don't. m’mdé’ }
tion to the people who come in and go out frem w'\hﬁ‘-m 2
Q Didn't you see him a ye:u' and a half? A T ﬂm 5
permanently inside the bar-room. : ...“ |

Q Didn't you .g a y & year and a half about that you

‘r--‘L.

don't see him? A Yes sir one year or one year and a m
he didn't come in my bar, ‘ . - “, ¢ <7y

Q Do you know the reason why he didam't come to your

4



bar-room? A Because he didn'f N 56 w

Q@ YNow, you saw thigs defundmt sidevays, |

ed the door of the ha‘.ll I aav hu fl“.

o ,9'

Q Then what did you 'say ta hm, w&m

x.,

not say anything to him.
Q Did you ask him what is the matter or Uhi‘l"
trouble? A No sir. : o
Q Did you see a pistol in his hand? A ﬂ
gimply that he had his hamd in his pookot; B m’
what, I didn't see, upon my conscience. = i
Q What did vou do after that? A 1 n—-‘ahm
bar~-room and stayed there. |
Q The only light that was in the hallway was
ed by the room door when you opened the door, M'i iﬂ
A When I opened the door the nght came out fl“!l ny m&ﬂ%
Q Was that the only light? A There was only m
person with me in the bar-room.
Q Was that the only light which furnished light i.&:l.
the hallway through which yeu claim this defendant mt
out? A There is nobody else living in that hallway
that the bar is there and the doof ise ou the hall,
Q I asked you was there any gas 1it in the, hﬂw

outside of your own light to furmsh light in the hall whes

"



A
'

this defendant was running out? A WNo sir;
in the bar. ' |
Q Wnat time are the lights turned out in the }

A Ten o'elock.

the only light which was furnished into the mw

own door? A Yes sir.

Objected to.
Objection sustained.
Q You spoke about it t'o Aldoruie'bu he came
did you? A When Alderisio came back from the doetor he
expressed --
THE COURT: Answer the question yes orme. .
THE WITSESS: With him and with all the oﬁn‘
people that were in the house.
Q Then vou told Alderisio who it was that shot him,
didn't you? A I didn't say that I had seen the man *l
shot him, I simply said to him that I had seen this dafon‘é':"_

ant passing by after the shooting,



DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KRESEL:

Q Where do you live? A 2076 First Awa-b.

Q Is that the same place where Domenico wﬁl
lives? A I am on the floor above. : “ :

Q 718 that the same place where lil. VIQM”W
A Yes sir. ) '

Q Do you remember being in Mrs. Viggiano's m Oll
the night of the 26th of December, 19047 A "f!onv;" |

Q Now, tell us what you know about thu.onbitf
wag in the saloon because it was cold outside. | _

Q Who else was in there? A I and Mras. 'ﬂ.mg

Q Then what hanpened? A Whilst sitting near m |
stove in order to get warm we heard three roport! fm O.
revolver.

Q From a revolver? A Yes sir.

Q Then what did you do? A We then came, went to ’ﬁh'
deoor in order to know what has happened.

Q Did you open the door? A Yes #ir.

Q Did you see anybody? A I saw Antonio passing by;"
without, however, noting m;twhmg about what had happened.

Q@ Who do you mean by Antonioc? A That gentleman

R



there, (indicating the defendant).

Q How was a he dressed? A With a m
Q Do you mean an overcoat? A It was not
white, it was whitish. : f : :
Q Light? A Yes sir. , L 5. ,{
You mean a light coat? A Yes sir. | |
Did you say anything to him? A WNe mq! :
Did you see Alderisio on that Q&dl“ : L “ﬁ

L 0 O Lo

Did you see him that night (poimting to Al

A Yo sir.

Q You did not see him? A No sir; I saw hi
S s M S i : o
left to go to the doetor. : Py

ar 3
- s .

Q So you did see him? A Yes sirj I saw him that ”

went down to go to the doctor's but I did not know what -
the matter, e

Q Did you see his arm? A ¥No sir.

what the trouble was? . i
Objected to. Ly i |
A I had heard that he had been shot,. i
MR, PAIMTERT: I move to strike that oubs
g C i % o

MR, KRESEL: I consent to that. b

» ¥ |

Q Did you see his bare arm so that you gould tell What
e o

the trouble was? A No sir. L



CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. PAIMIERI:

Q Are you sure that this defendant h.d'l Mﬁm
coat on, or a grayish overcoat? A I saw l\hm” ‘
any other time with a light coat, a light colAred M

Q Don't you know that the omly oversoat this

ant ever had is the one he has on now? A No sir,

door? A She was by my side, o »»
Q Did the defendant walk by == xmr m NM
go by? A Placid, pacifie, just as qy other t!.nq
Q@ What do you mean by pacifiec? A Just & ih‘ M;
#way as he is used to pass by and just in the same W“ »
any other person is used to walk, _ g e
Q You did not testify before in this case in ﬂh. ”3.’”
lem Police Court? A FNo sir, : |
Q You only talked it over with the ’r(t‘.m
in this case to-day, didn't you? A No sin,
Q Didn't you talk with this lawyer back in the court
room now? A No sir; this gentleman with the w
had simply inquired about the dooctor where ho had M

Q Did you see any police there that n'ldxﬂ A &“

L



were two police officers there.
Q Did you go upstairs with those police

identify this defendant? A No sir.

this man? A I do not knowe.

Q Did you tell the policemen that you saw & 1

sir. g =
Q Did you talk with the police at M' ‘»#
Q@ Who went to the doctof? A W A

brother.

half of the People, being duly sworn, testified as 0.
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR« KRESEL:

Q Where do you live? A 2076 First .‘m,’i

Q What is your business? A Carpentery

Q Are you related to the complaining vitm&'

Alderisio?Y A Yes sir.

3

¥ 2 Tpi”
e % i o
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p e

g

Q@ What is your relatiomship to him? A 'Q

sons of brother and brother.

>

Q@ In other words you are cousins? A Yeas sirs.



Objected to.

-

{5 Question withdrawn.

Q On the might of the 26th of December, 1

during the day.
Q Did you see him during the eﬂminé ot " '
A I saw him about during the daytime and I did ne
at night. :
Q@ Do you renember seeing the d'ntmir‘ ﬁ
. A In the evening. ‘
Q About what time in the evening did you see him?

A REleven o'clock more oi' lesss

’5“1 tll b

Y heard the three shots and then (stretchihg his h.y “’ '_

v
indicating) I saw he was flying = aways

Q@ Who do you mean was -flying Q"’A’ ‘: De
(indicating the defendant.) »

. Q Did you then go down to the floor belew? A I went
¥ - :
i T



e

boin_c scared, I entered my apartment and clo '

with a key.
Q Did you know that he had shot your cousin? A

% et

.iro‘

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. PATMIERI:

You did not get th /thing that n
Q You did not get the police °f'ﬂm”t“"9

did you? A Nothing; I entered my wm te
night I knew what had happened, | o
Q That was in the morning? A Yes uﬂ in the mo

i . o 478
ins. : R 3 25

Q In the morning who told you? A All the mh :

»

were gathered around there in the house.

.

Q They all told you that this defendsnt did the s
ing? A No sir; it was told me that my cousin MM

shot.

Q@ You took your cousin to, the doctor, di,@l'_t m’

o2
N

a

A Yes sir.

tor? A Yes sgir. el
Q@ Now, as you were coming up didn't youicd mr :
trying to lock the dobr of the toilet and arguing with this

L]

defendant? A No sir.



Q What doctor dia you take your cousin W, :
norning? A Dr. Vecechio. ,
Q That was the doctor that testified upen the st
A Yes sir exactly.
Q And after that you went to the station m‘!i
sir; I went to work. e

i

Q How long does it take you to olimb the mun 4
stairse? A Three or four minutes. | 4 ’

Q You saw this defendant tlyinc away, aﬂt‘t M
when you looked down? /A Yes sir. & ; M

Q Now, did you hear the previmﬂmst -&#w&
saw a person coming down walking-liesurely, plaecidly and
pacifically? A No; I did not hear., , , _

Q@ You say that he was running as f.lt.q.! ll!cmg
didn't you? A Well, not too quick, but he was running
down the stairs speedily. :

Q How was he dressed? A Well, go far as I could
notice with the light that was thero' coming out from where
the undertaker is, his coat was something of a grayish
lignt.

Q That was the only light that aided you in“ddentify-
ing the person who did the lﬁo,otingf A "Yes sir; that ‘

where the undertaker is because there is a big pane of-

L

AN o
g wh Pe s

glass.,
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Q When you went up the fm of Mn
a8 you reached the top of the stairs that !Ui  A
shots fired consecutively, did you iii’ A Clb; "

Q You went up a flight of stairs, you ’Qﬂjﬁd‘iﬁii
saw nothing, you saw n::;alkinc y Or any person ﬁiﬁf—;{
went up another flight of stairs and as soon as m
that flight you heard three shots, is that M‘t’ al ,v
ly BoO. ey

Q@ As you went up the second flight, before m o
ing, did you hear any talk? A After? ‘ _

Q@ (Repeated)? A After the nhootlnc.!'lnnubl'
iately over the banister.

Q Before the shooting did you hear any talk? A Neo
8ir; nothing at all.

Q@ Did you tell the police who it 'llAthnt 4447ﬁy%
shooting? ;

MR. KRESEL: I object to that question. He
has already asked it.
MR, PAIMIERI: ©Not of this witnesp.

A T didn't say anything to the police, to nebody, pething,
not to my wife. ‘ .‘ |

Q@ When did you speak for the first ‘time about this s

case? A I was taken to Court.



L3

night of the shooting, did you? A No sirj I M’th

nowhere; I didn't go out of my house for fears | |
Q@ You don't know whether your cousin went to mm G

doctor that night or not, do you? _ 5

MR. PAIMIERI: I object to that m hQ
claims he went to this dootor on that night.

Objection overruled, Exception. |

A I heard it that he was to a doctor's in the mrﬁ’nc:.

MR. PAIMTRRI: T move to atrike that outs

THE COURT: 8Strike it out: .

MR, PAIMIERI: I ask your Honor to instruct
the jury to disregard that statement nis hearsay
evidence. ‘

THE COURT: Yes.

Q You don't know whether your cousin went with his
brother to another doetor the night before, do you? A IQA

sir; I do not know; I knew it in the mormings




.stairs is concerned.

Q VNow, on what floor was it that you
heard the shooting? A For tnltanub,ﬂii

the second floor, the third floor.

expression to be used.
Q You mean two flights up, do you? A iiﬁii
flights.

Q DNow, you say that you saw the dlﬁ!ﬂlﬁﬂﬁ;

A IonlycanlaysofarAlWWOfﬂﬂ

he did on the ground floor? A I do not’ know M

in that moment when the lady saw himj; I was not 1

to know.

BY MR. PAIMIRRI:
Q But you are sure that he had on a white or a

overcoat? A Well, it was a mixed color.

~
"u-

I saw him with his coat on several timess. ﬂ o N



%

sir.

Q very friendly, aren't you? A ¥No ur.‘

are not exactly npoaking together, but it is a bu
that I saw him. :

Q Do you know the coats of all the tenants S’
building? ‘ V

Objected to.

THE COURT: He may answer. _
A VWell, there is some one who wears one kind of ;
and others who wear other kinds of coats. | '

Q How many families in that house? A There are
several men there who once dress in one way and another
time dress in another way.

Q That is this defendant, the man that dresses ﬂm
time in one way and at another time in another way, is *iﬂ‘f
defendant? A Yes sir, I saw it. * ,

MR, KRESEL: Now, if your Honor jmu,, 1 ﬂv;

not desire to close the case for the people at



5
¥
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!

(The Court then admonished the jury,
their attention to Seetion 415 of ﬁm “
inal Procedure, and adjourned the fu '
this case until Thursday mmm,
1905, at 10:3, O'eloek.)
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b adull i

Pebruary 28, 1905,
TRIAL RESUMED,

ENRICO TROTTA, a vitness called on behaif of the
pedple, being duly sworn, test if'ied ms follows; 0
DIRRCT RXAMINATION BY MR, KRESRL:

Q@ Wherae do you live? . A 1l6th street,

114th street, what mumber? A 336, S
Bast or Want? A Rast, '
What isvpur business? A T mm 'n doetor. FEALH, 5

You are » physician? A Yen, sir.

L L L& L D

Where is your off'ige? A My off ige is in ; rugi
Q@ In & drugstore, where? A In Sesond m ﬂm
corner of 1l4th street, | -
Q Is that right? A Yes, sir,
Q Seond mvenue gorner of ll4th street? A Yes, afr,
Q New, do you own that drugstore?
MR, PAIMIRRI: Objected to, an immaterial,
vour Honer,
A It is my own; yes, sir,
THR COURT: X wil)l sustain that objeetion.
Q On the 26%h of Necember, 1904, 214 you haw your of'-

£i%e in that drugstore? A Yes, sir,



St aaint= Yo
v N S 2 |

Q That is the day after Christmss, do you

A Vell, I don't remember #t.

: cember (pointing to 'he complaining witness ‘
A Yes, #ir, he his came efter ten o el wa ! m ;

S

Mg . oometis

after ten o'slosk,
Q In the evening? A Yes, sir, in the
Q He came there inm the evening? A Yes, sir.
Q Did he come alome? A Ne, sir, lots ‘ !‘

him,

Q Some other people with him? A Yes, air,

Q Did you motiee his am? A 'fo’n. sir; he showed me
his arm.

Q@ What Aid you notiee about 1t? A Twe holes in this
arm in the skin, |
Q A wound? A Yes, sir, !

Q What did you do with him? A Well, I weilied 1t, ant
I put & dressing on it, antifeptie, that is all,

Q@ You washed it and dressed it? A Yes§ sir,

Q Is that right? A Yes, stir,

Q Now, do you ~meube sxastly we t day that wast

A No, pir, vhat day I den't remember,



Q Was it in December? A Yes, sir, in Dey
Q Was it after Christmas? A After Christs
in the night time; that I remember well,.

Q You remember that? A Yes, sir.

sir, only onee.

Q Only onee? A Yes, sir.

CROSS~RXAMINATION BY MR, PALMIERI;
Q DNester, Just show the Jury where that w

the arm? A In the elbeow hers, but I don't m ‘
the right or the left, g

g
3

Q It was on the elbow, but you den't remsmber ittﬁlr
it was on the Jleft arm or the right arm? A Yes, sir.

Q But you den't remember the losation of the skin W
A Yes, air, ‘ o

Q Show the jury where it was? A Tt was on the skin
here (indicating the bask ef the amm Just &t the olhﬂ)'.

Q" Right there ({llustreiing)? A Yes, sir,

Q That was the pednt, that was vhere the woaund existed
which you washed? A Yes, sir, the two wounds,

Q Two? A Yean, sir; they were skin waoinés.

Q Just skin vounda? A Skin, yes, sir,



Q Why do you eall that & skin vound? A
was & hole, |

Q In the skin? A Yes, sir,

Q There was & hele? A Yes, sir, a perforation |

A That performted the skin? A Yes, sir; two ’m
tions., | : } 

Q And the bone? A Neo, sir, only the skinj tb
lation was saved. |

Q When you say artisulation, do you mean the W
A No, gir; the muscles move the mm, the Mﬂ m
strength. g

Q The muscles give strength to the amms? A To the
movements. KExcuse my English,

Q And the hole weni @b far as the skin, i that !'w
A Yes, sir. ‘ ;vi“"*"

Q As far as the bone? A Yo, sir, only the skin. |

Q@ Only the skin? A Yes, sir,

Q@ But you are positive the point of entrancs of that
hole was &t the place which yan new indigate, just badd of
the arm at the elbow? A Yes, air,

Q@ Quite a srowd of pecple came sleng with the ¢apleine
ant, the man whe was shet? A Yews, sir,

Q There were many people there?t A Yes, sir,



£
i
!
f
!
i
]

g

T

Q Now, @dostor, you aidn't preve for any b
thers was nﬁu’ A Yo, sir, no bullet, |
Q You Aidn't see any bullets? A No, 'mmﬂ
holes that is all, ' '
Q All you did was to wash it with utt'nm "

Vi

. i
i Ty

sir,

all.

Q It is needless to say that the somplainant cM
have to be emrried, the patient was not carried to youf
A Yo, sir. ‘
Q He walked,? A Yes, sir,
Q And talked? A Yes, sir.
BY MR, XRESREL:;

Q You say there was & double perforatiom, what do you
mean by Whiat? A Two holes in the skin, one small, one big,
and one sall er, unequal. | .

Q They ware not equal? A Ne, air, very Jittle aif-
ference, -
(Mr, Xrégel to the ceplaining vitness:) _" ; :
Just let Ve see your mrm, shev the jury vhere \‘“«}
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wound was? (The camplaining witness
arm to the jury,)
BY MR. PALMIRRY;
Q How far was the other hole from the !“M W»
skin? A About one amd & helf inches from “* or

Q Yrom eash other? A Yes, -ir. ‘ P
Q A1l hehind the elbow at the place wm t,:

sir,

Q That is, one was about one and & half inches awey
from the other? A Yes, sir, i ' | | ' |

Q They were skin wounds, net to the bw' A Yes, m, ‘
enly the skin that is all,
BY THE YORFMAM;

Q (After examining the arm of the canplaining wi

The bullet went in here &nd came out ihere (Mh‘tu'
A Yes, pir.,
BY MR, PAIMIRRI:

Q DNoctor, were there any powder marks en that am?
A Yo, sir,

Q Sure about that? A Yes, sir,

Q There were no pwoder marks on that arm? A I am sure

of that,



A I tald you it is impossible, besauses he was dry i .
the powder would get on the glethes.

Q Did you mee any powder marks on the cont? A ¥o W
4 Or any burnt markp (Ne answer.) | &
Q Is that the coat that the complainant were m
to the coat worn by the complaining witmess)? A I don't

remembher now,

SAVRERIO ALDRRISIO, avwithess dmnm
of the people, being duly swern, testified as m
DIRECT RXAMINATION RY MR, KRESEL: ,
MR. PALMIERI: If what vyou want tf prove Wt‘
this witness is that he went with his brother to
the dogtor, T will cmeefe that he will tnuh'ttv"? ~‘
that 'aet .
MR, KRESEL: There is something else I want
to &sk him,
Q | Where do you live? A 2076 First avenue,
Q Are you related to NDomenice Alderisie? A Y am his
br other,
Q DNoes he live in ywur house? A Yes, sir,

Q What is your business? A Telloer.
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i ’*
; Q De you remember the day after Christmas, last year?

A Yesn, air.

4 Didd you see your hrother Demenice on that m

A Yes, sir, »
1 Do you know the defendant? A Yes, .',T. yeda ”
Q Did you sea him on the night of the 26th ﬂ' hm |
19047 A I aidn't msee him, e
‘ Q Do you remember going smywhere with your brother on
that night? A Yes, sir, I remember that I went with him te |
& dogctor after he was wounded, | i
Q Did you see the ossurrence, the wounding? l ' Io. )
sir; I aian't see it, :
Q When you first sav your brother what was the m-
tion of his arm? A I den't spesk very good HEnglish. I was
| at & meeting; there was & meeting of the assceintion, amt I
was inside on the ground floer, in the hall en the groumd
floor, whilst we had our meeting, and I heard three reports
of a pistcl; we were about thirty or feorty persons unitsd
there, snd we didn't pay attention; we thought it was some
gutside arrair, 4t iwasn't any of us.
Q When you esme out, you saw your brether? A I went
out in about four eor five mimibes after I henrd the three
shots, about five mimutes aftervards, and in same the breother
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in law of this aceused, and he said teo me. i : ,

(Striecken out.)

Q You eame out, M d you see your brother? -I’M
then I saw on the Tirst floer, I saw Iy h‘l‘ﬁ'} he waps
wounded and I toek him e&nd I went to & destor uﬁm

Q What dootor did vou go te? AT went t' m w
chio, but it wes el omed, «nd then I went to Doster !r«m
I went into the drugstere; he keeps & drugstore thm.

Q After going to the drugstere, whare slse Qlil you u'*.
with van brother? A I went themn to the lm“ﬂ W
my bra her,

Q What station house? A JO4th Street,

Q@ The 104th Street Station House? A Yes, sir,

Q You went there the same night? A Yes, sir; iﬂm
ly when he came out of the drugstore I went to the statien

house,

CROSS~-EXAMINATION RY MR, PAIMIERI:;
Q T only esk you one question., This sesiety meets in
the seme barroeom of this wamen that testified? (No answer.)
Q Where does your soslety meet? A Well, tm is &
meeting hall connected with the saleen, the saleon is in one

part end the meeting hall is in the rear,
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Q4 The mesting hall belengw to the sams meles

not, it is & contimmtion of the snme saloon, Q‘V
that bar at those meetings, don't you, :
Objected to, OBjection sustained, m

Q Do you know the waman whe keeps the barf? A

Q How long have yoau known her? A About nmur
years, | |
Q About eight or nine yesrs? A Yes, sir, I haw Kk ow

her about eight or nine years. 3 ik
Q You are quite friemily with her, saren't you?

e

A I am & good riend to &all of them,

LOUIS . STANCRREDTY, a vitness eslled on behalf
of the people, being duly sworn, testified s follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, KRESRL: o
Q You are attached to what presinet? A The W o
Q@ Is that the 104th streat police statieon? A Yes, l&%
Q Were you ettmched to that precinet on the 26th Aay
of' Necember, 19C4Y A Yes, air,
Q@ On the night of the 26th of December, 1904, d.“ you
see rhw camplaining witness in this case, Domenice Alderisio?
A Yean, pir,

Q Where did you @mee him then? A He osme to the station

house,
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house that night.

Q What happened there? A He o teo the

PR

the toilet, that samebody shet him in the amm,

BY THE OOURT:
Q Did vou say that he said this teo youtd ﬁ ‘mf ”
Q The defendant wes net with him, wes het X ﬁi
MR, PAIMIERI: I aid net object to 4%, : ;“" *
THE COURT: It is net eampetent; ve will m«m
‘ ' it eut.

Q He made & camplaint? A Yes, sir, he made &

CROSS~-EXAMINATION BY MR, PARMIRRI: »
O Vhen he made & eamplaint, he 414 not make & cowplaint
against anybody, except he said somebody shot him?
Objected to, Objection everruled,
Q Yes, or mnot A Yes, sir,
Q@ You diAn't arrest this defendant, did you, offieer?
A Vo, sir,
Q What other of'fiser arrested him? A Offieer Mangeone.
Q@ Is he incourt? A Yes, sir,
BY MR, KRESR:
Q Did you 4o Lo 1he house where the defendant livedy

A Yes, sir; we couldn't got any answer; wve eouldn't get ne



ontr-a“'.
Q4 You couldn't gain any entrange in the My
cloped? A Well, the rooms were closed, : "
Q Whose roams? A The defendant's, :
Q 8o, you aid go t¢ the deferdiant's house? A Yes,
Q That very night? A Yes, sir. By
Q With the complsinamt? A Yes, sir, with the eempls

ant .

A No, sir, I went up alone,

Q You went up alone? A Yes, sir,

Q He tald you where to go? A Yes, sir,

Q So, he did make & complaint againet t-hb Asfendant ?
"A He says, “He lives Jupsieirs on the top ﬂm."

BY MR, PALMIERI:

Q You know thet when a felony is comitted that yom
have & right t o go and spprehem s man wherever you bhel isve
he is living?

Objacted te., Objegtion susntaimed. Exeep tion.

Q Did you broek into this man's deor? A Ne, sir,

Q When you aey you coudn't gain any entranee, what do
you mean, 4ic¢ you iry to get in? A He aion't know 0‘&,\'
wvhat part of the fleoer this party Jiwd on,

Q Whet A He says he knew him only by sight,
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S e

S0 you »imply knosked at the deor? A Yem, sir,
You didn't holler? A No, sir. |
You didn't eall him by neme? A Neo, sir,

L L L O

You didn't shout? A Neo, sir.
Q Yor &1l you know the pe cple might haw been

¥

Q When you knecked at the door you got mo response what

A I believe so.

was vour belief as t0 the people Lmeide there?
Objested to, Objestion sustadmed, Exception,

BY THE COURT: _ ;

Q What Aid you see-- did you observe aything? A ll‘q;.;
sir, everything was qmt‘. b

Q It was dark, wvasn't it? A Yes, #ir,

Q Dark and al]l was quiet? A Yes, sir,

BY MR, PALMIRRI:

Q When you went through that hallway, T ask you if the
lights in that hallway were 14t or not?t A Neo, sir, they
were out,

Q When you went threugh these hallways, were they @ark
or ud‘"v A I lighted them myself. I lighted the light go-
ing wpstairs.

Q You had to light the light? A Yes, sir,
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Q Couldn't you go wp witheut lighting the 1ig
Too dark, This is & six story building.

™)
&

Q Te that the comdition of that place every m; w ‘5
too dark? ¥ "
Objected to, Objection sustaimed, s

Q Was that the eomdition of the floers there ”
night, of the hallway? A The lights were out, I hrﬁ_f"'_‘i%‘j’ Wi
1it when I went away, ot
‘ Q@ You had to light the light in order to get M ta |
g9 upstairs? A Yes, sir, ‘ | ‘ : i

Q@ I believe you made & complaint to the Mﬂ"
this matter, AiMn't you, for not lighting the hallwey at
night? A Yea, sir, |
BY MR, KRESRL:

Q About what time daid you go there? A About half-
pést twelve or tiontr minutes to one,

Q Twenty ginutes to one in the morning? A Yes, sir,

Q@ You dan't knov Row light these hallways might have
been at 11 o'alosk? A N&. sir, ‘

Q You didn't kmew the name of this defendant &t the

time? A Neo, sir.



sir.,

seme ORY. ¢

Q Waat time? A Well, in the merning abeut ten l{‘m

mation as Lo whoe the party wvas.

that time, aid you?

Q The eamplainant Aidn't tell you the nem? A Ne,
Q He said he knew him by sight? A That is all,

Q When d4id yau retum there again, offiser? A “‘

et O . g e P, -~
' 4

BRY MR, PALMIERI;

A Where aid you go? A In the house 19 get sae infor~

Q

Q As to who did the sheoting? A Yes, sir,
Q You didn't know whe hat dene the shooting before

)

ing at

that night? A Twe nights after.

Rine.

Q

Q

o L L O

You went there to get same infomation? " *lo”

Objected to., Objection sustained, Exeception,
Did you go to this defendant's apartments in the &#
ten o'clogk? A Yes, sir,

Did vou go to his apartments at any other time after

Twe nights after? A Yes, sir.

That was the night of his arrest? A Yes, sir,
How meny off isers wers there? A Twe,

Two? A Yes, sir,

Vhat time did you get to his Ffétme? A Half past
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Q Can you give any reason to this jury ~
returm to this defendant's roems the fﬁm
Objected to, Objestion W

Objested te. OCbjection mttdad-.""( aep L3e

Q Is that true or met true-- is that the mww

the faet? | ”
Objectad to, Objection IM“.‘;

Q Officer, fram the night that yem unu “‘ _
defendant, that is from the night that yon went W te tM
top fleor o the apartment s wherae this um cseurred,
you returned there when? : . M‘..

Objected to. Objection sustained, Rxeeption,

Q
bed.,
Q With whom? A With his wife. :
Q Who elme? A Children,
Q Did vou meke & semreh of his reema? A Neo, sir,
Q You didn't searaeh for anything? A Neo, sir,

Q Can you give any reasan why you difn't semreh 1 or

any thing?
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Objected te. Objestion sustained, M
MR, KREGRL: The Pecple rest. Bt ey
MR, PAIMITRI; Now, yaw NHemer, I ask that
your Hemor take fram the considerstion of m
the caunt of the indictment sherging sessult 8
the firet degres, A
THE COURT: T will deny your mmﬁ his
time with leave to renew it, 5

"

Exeep tion,

the defendant as f ollows:



B

defendant, heing duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT REXAMINATION BY MR, PAIMIERI:
Q Are you the wife of the defencant? A  Yen, sir,

Q You live on the top fleor of what house? "'
A I dm't recgell eet the mumber, on First avemue, I M’t
recel)l est the mmber, : £

Q 2076 Pirst avemie? A Yen, wiF. | =

Q 20769 A Yes, sir, ‘ o, PY iR,

Q How lonmg have yau been living ihere with 'ymr M
and ¢hildren? A About four or i yeurs, | |

Q Do yoau remember {he night eof the 26th of December,
19047 A Yes, sir.

Q Did you hear any sheoting in that building upon that
nightt A No, sir; I didn't hear any.

Q@ On the morming of the 26th of Degember where Aif you
¢ with yaur husbem? '
Objected to, Objection overruled,
A At half-past ten in the morning we went to mass in the
chureh,
Q@ When you say "we' you mean whe?t A T sean I, my

husbeand and two ghildren.
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Q How leng A14 you remain in chureh? A ﬂﬂ ‘

o'gloek.

Q After that where A4 you go with yeur husbe w
children? A Them we went heme, ' i3
Q To the " heame in which you lived? A !b!, 'gf,*f C
the floor where we llwd g
Q When you went to the top fleor what m_'m ao ym
yosr Duahendit A Them we hatt semething SR, 1 A
Q What time 044 you get thragh eating? A M-m

o .-'ij iy

tnlvo. EREt
Q@ After that where did ym husbant go unﬂ ihd ‘ﬂ léi
@o? A He went out and cmme back about six o'cloek 4n the
evening.
Q Vhen he os® back, what 618 you do? A Well, he play- ‘
ed with the ¢hildren &nd then we had panething to eat, !
Q@ What time did you retire, that is wvhat time did yeu
g0 to bed with vour hushend? A About nine or half-past nine
Q After you went to bed did you hear any pistel shote?
A No, sir,
Q Nid wu hear any knocking at the doer by eaybo“
A Neo, air.
Q When did you firet hear of any sheeting having eocour=-

red in that house?t A In sbout tve day.,
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two days after this aileged shooting, mnd if w0 wh
te you-~- you can answer that by yves or net?
BY THE (OURT: 5
i Q@ Yes, he san. Did he Wik t o yau; mﬁ ‘
Yes, sir, he talked tome and wanted Lo ses my ’
BY MR, PAIMIERI: : ik
Q X wish ya to state &)l the MM“: »

this camplainant's brother on the -.wmu
days efter this alleged shooting. o
Objected te. Objection sustained. mum aeh |

Q After this talk, vhat tdme 440 yeur husbend ogse ha o?

A About two or three 0'010“- on the evening the brother
came Lo pee me my husbant oame home th-ﬂ“ tﬂ”

five o'sleek. :

Q Dia you talk with your husband as to what had been ¢
said te you by the camplainant’s brother? A Yes, sir, m* A
only a few words.

Q You ean't state the conversation had with him. A
No conversation; I only saia that he was here.

Q Then youwr husband had suppert? A Yes, sir,

Q Then, what time @40 you go to bed, two nights Af'ter
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this alleged occcurrense? A W“!.‘* M
Q What time @44 the police eame to yo
half-pest nine or tem ¢'closk Ihﬂ_\' the ’m i
Q Where was your husband them? Aﬁ“ \
me. | ‘
Q What aia tle pelice say t o you MW
doer? A Well, they kmogked on the door Mu

ed the door, e G e
Q4 What aid the peliee ssy? A They tald him to
end came with them. : e TO

and went with the police.

N S

Q Was this the coat that he put en [indiemting)?

A Yes, sir, that 1is his. N

Q Did your husband ever have sny other eeit but this

Q@ Have you sny other cosis belonging t o yawr husband
at yaar houn, or did yoau have any other coate belonging to
your husband at your house that night? A Ne, sir; that is
the only one he had.

Q@ From the morning of the 27th of December, sll Gay of
that day, and also the day of thd 28th, aid your husband work

or was he at hame? A He weni to work,



Q@ Nid he come home &t regular hours, dia it
come hame before this alleged shooting? A M.M
R 8¢ that yowr husbend went to work on tb“ Dﬂ
the 268th «nd he was hame the night of the 27th MN!
of the night of the 28th amd al) night on the 26¢th ﬁ
A Yes, alr, the 26th was & holidmy. .
Q@ Did your husband before this 38&&! Aay of
1904, ever cane home t ¢ dinner at tnln o'l gk !rus “lk Ht
lungh? A Ne, sir, only in the mm.
Q How @about his luneh in the ml ’- .
te work he eats his breskfast. |
Q Would he take sny lunch; aid he bring semething to

eat with him? A He woauld take sae money with him t o buy

food outside for luneh,

CROS8-EXAMINATION BY MR, XRESEL:

Q What churech did you go to on the 20th of hovi.nhw.,
1904Y A In 1l2th street.

Q What averme? A I den't recellesst.

Q How leng have yoai been married to the defendanty
A twalve years.

Q@ Where mre yau living now? A Segond svenue, in the

erens sireet near sesond avemue, I don't know the number,



Q You pay that ym ltw& in the house on nutam ;
for about four or five yeanrs, is that right? A Yes, “?’a; !
Q What number is it on FPirst avemwe? A I don't m
Q Do vou remember the night of the 26th of W
A Yes, sir, JG e,

Q Do you remember it very well? A Yes, sir,

Q What is there about that night that should u-n ti

so fresh in yvaur mind? A It was & helidey.

Q The day before that was s holiday, 100, wasn't it?
A Yes, sir, it was., Christmas Dy he din't work, ; »

. Q Did you go to church on that dsy? A Yes, sir, wo

want on Sunday.

Q You went to mass on that day? A Yes, sir,

Q You had your super on that day? A Yes, sir, _

Q You went to bad with y cur husband on that night ﬂﬂ;
n't yout A Yes, sir, | |

Q Now, thome mre the cccurrences that yon h
mentioned §f the 26th of Deeember, you diA the samething on
the 25th?Y A Yea, sir,

Q What is there about the 20th that makes y qu remember
it so well? I regollect Lhal 4L was on & Monday,

Q The day before was Sunday, wasn't it? A Yes, sir,



Q And that was a holiday? A Yes, sir, _ _
Q What time did you go to bed on >tho smu_} A “t '
"nine or half-past nine,
Q You didn't hear any shooting? A Neo, sir,
Q You went right to sleep, didn't you? A Yem, sir.
? Q At eleven o'clock you were aslesp? A Yes, lﬁ'a *
We live on the top floer and we dm't hur noise.,
Q You say that you didn't hear any noise of MW
L on your door on that night, did wou? A Ne, »ir. i A
| {
Q The of'f"icer sayes that he came 0 your doop mm ‘ e
knocked on your deeor? A I 3idn't hesr wny. 5
i Q You didn't hear amy? A No, sir. j‘s’;
i Q But yax heerd a knock or noise sfter that, ‘gial't
youy A Yes, sir,
| Q@ On that night yau went to bed at what how? A Hedf-
pest eight, :
Q The police game at what vime? A About half-past
nine or ten o'cloak,
Q@ You heard & kneck on that night? A Yes, sir; they
knogked very hard, i
Q They knoek o1 very hard? A Yes, sir,

L S ——— A AR R, - A |
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along with us,¥ 4is that right? A Y!i. siry ﬂﬁt l'“
understood, | ot

Q You stoed right at the door, didn't yout A I
ed in bed, my husband went to the door, : ' ‘

Q DiA vaa hear vour husband sey anything? A He afifn't

say anything.

Q@ He Aidn't say amything? A No, safr,

Q Just dresmmed himself and went with ths off feer, dia
he? A Yes, sir, ‘ | R A

Q Mid you go with the offfeer, too? A T remained st
home; I remained in bed at the house,.

Q You sald vo yeur counsel that y auwr husband never ”
home for his lunch, is that right? A He dcesn't ﬁo nt
noentime,

Q You have been married twelve years, you pay?

A nav;n Years,

Q And yai swer that in the eleven ysers thet you have
been living with this @efendant he has never been hame to his .‘:
lungh, 41§ that right? A When he was ocut of werk, when he e
didn't work, then he had his lunch hame. Then when he worked =

he never cames home .
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Q He has been out of work durdng thome e
hasn't Re A m-mmnwumm“

ﬂot work.

he lives in the peme house, but I don'y mm
Q lave ya seen him bafowe this morming? A I mﬂi
wife. |
% Have you never seen that man befere this merming?
A I have not, sir,
% ) Is that the man whe salled at your hm' A No, u
“Q Who is the men that ealled st your hm; vhat 8! m
name? A The man who is coming now, the m&n wvhe fust meved
over,
Q Ts that the man {indisating)? A Yes, sir.
4 Thet 1s the men that ealled st yur house? A Yes,
sir, (Referring to the witnesa Damenico narm..jf:
Q Do you remamber when he onme 1o vaw house? A M,

sir.,
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Q What dey was 187 A The day after it happened.
Q You mean then on the 27th? A Yes, sir,

Q That was on the same fay that your mbudm :

arrested? A No, sir, he was arrested the next day.

Q@ 8o, than, your husbend was srrested the day sfter he

came to vour house, ims that right? A Yea, sir.

Q

Your hushend was arrested on ths night of the 28th

of Necember, was he net? A Yes, sir.

0

-

Alderisio came te your house in the am, or in

the evening of the 27th? A About MM twelve,

0

-

Q

Half-past twelve? A He onme twice te my house,
When Adid he eane the second time? A He came aboud

half past {two or three o'ecloek.

Q

Ofy what day? A The same dey he ammm et helf-pest

twelve, Whd then half-past two or threse,

q

50 he was there twice on the 27th of Degember, ins

that right? A Yes, &ir.

8]

-

L O L O Lo

Have you ever baeaen in Alderisioc's house? A Ne, sir,
Did vou ever mee Naminiae Alderisie? A Neo, sir.
Never saw him beafore? A Yo, sir, i

Is that right? A Yes, sfir.

Have you had any canversation with him? A Ne, sir.

Did veu on the 27th day of Decembar, 1904, haw &

R
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nevear,

Q Or at any other timet A No, sir.

husband has no light coat, Gy 2
Q Did yveu show them eny gont M te
A Vo, nftr, b v ey
0 Nida wu hawe any chcruuoa with them about a m 5
A Yo, atir, _ ! ;
G Did you have sy ¢ awersation with them Mt t“ :
shooting? A No, sir, ’
@ Or with either of them? A No, sir, with nens of
them .
BY MR, PAIMIKRI;
Q Did your husbend ever ecarry & pistel?t A Wo, sir,
Q Nid you ever have a pistel at yawr hame? A ¥o, sir.
BY MR, XRESEL:
Q You never sew yair husband have o pistel? A Neo,

sir.,
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@ You o't kmew iqshor o S n 54AAS MU
yoa? A Why sheuldn't I'know? He Jives with me, and I knew
if he had & pistel or net, _ i ‘

Q Are you willing t o swear of yaur “M v
your husband @14 net at anytime have & ”‘““ w

ion? A T will mwear 100 times that he @ idn't Heve a pd

GUISEPPI CACCITORE, avitnons cadled on e~
half of the defendsnt, being duly sewrn, testified as follows
DIRECT BXAMINATION BY MR, PALMEIRRY

i

Q@ You have been for three years m-hm&“ﬂr of

the premises 2076 Pirst svame? A Yes, sir, Twe ym M
I have not been there as Janitor, -
Q@ But yoa have been? A I was there for three yesrs.
Q2 Nuring that time do. yaa remember this fsmily of the |
def andant and the defendant living with his family on the tu ;
floor of those premises? '
Objacted te.. Objection sustained.
Q Do yoau know othar people that live in that house?
Objected to,
BY THE COURT:
Q Do yau knew others who know the defendant? A Yea,

they are here; I knovw (hem,



BY MR, PAILMIERI:

Q What is the defendant's sharacter in the ym: |
which he oceupiss and of which you were the IW f* |
three years for penase and quietmess in that Wﬁ'

Objectet to,

Q What 1s the defen‘ant's reputmtion for pm ﬂ
quietness smong those with wham y ai have Mlm Nl m
acter?

Objected to, Objection sustained,
MR, PALMIERT: I will strike out the we
that bullding.*

Q What is the dafendant’'s reputation for peanse and
quietness, good or bad? A Well, how emn T know 1t; T enly
attend te¢ my own business,

@ Non't yau know good pe ople im yaw building ¢ mt bad
people?

Objected to, Objestion sustained,
Q Nifn't vau tel) me outside that it wes good?
Chjected to,

Q Nidn't you talk t o me outside? A Yes, sir, T talked

with y o,

Q Dad I put same duestions toyau? A You asked me 1if
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I know Dercss to be & shooter, and I sedd ne T never knew him
to he & shooter, or that he is & humter, that is vhat I an-

swered,

No eross-examination,

JOSEPH RAIMO, « witness called on behalf of the

defendant, being duly sworn, testified as foll ows:

DIRECT RXAMINATION BY MR, PALMIERY:

?

Q Are you employed in tha office of defemient's counsel?

A Yes, wnir.

Q Did vou yesterdey, &t my request, serve & i
or attempt 10 seyve a subpoena, upon the present housekseper
of the premises 2076 Pirst svanue? A Yes, sir, | |
BY MR, KRESEL;

Q Wnigh is 1t, did ye: serve it or attempt ;o‘?

A T attempted to serve it, i
BY MR, PALMIERX:

Q Pid yaou mes him? A '{as.v air,

Q State whether you served the subpoens, or the cir-
cumstanees under which you attempted t o serve it.

Objected te., Objlesction swtained,

Q Did yeu go int ¢ the building at my request and mensure ;- _.

the hallways of the dbullding. A

Q Did you measure the hadlways of the dullding? A Yes,
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sir,
Q What is the measuresent of the hallways, th. first
floor, smcond floor, ete,?

Objecied te,

MR, PALMIERI: 7T simply wani ie enlighten W
court and Jwry &8 t o the sxast n-mmq"”
hellwey: where the shooting ook pl“'. |

Ohjectien s:mtained,

Q Did yau messurce the firat hallwayd

Ohjested to, Objestion owerruled.

Q What is the measurement of the ®rst hallway?
A Three feet wide and twelve feet Jong.

Q Thet is frem door to door, twelve feet long? £y
A Yes, sir. ; '

2 Where are the tollets? A They are in the hall rm |
at the top of the first leamding, right at the tep of the |
stairease,

2 In the middle cf the hallway? A Yes, sir,

Q Yow mra the rooms divided; hew are the deers vith re-
speet to the hallways; how 4@ they Jead into the hall, the

deorway of emch family? A Yeou gan't get inte the family
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before you get int o the hall; there is & PR “ Aol
one from another, | ‘ 4 |
Q You mean there is & separate hall besides the leng ﬁ

hall?
Objected to., Objegtion sustained,

A T mesn this: Before you get into the m M‘ ”

faxilies have to o vau must pass anether ‘ﬂ, “
pass this door you get into « hallway and then you assn m
into where the families live, if von 1ike,

Q That is, if you wished to go imto the hell of |
family on any floor, vou would first have to epen one M
A Yes, sir,

0 Then there is a small hallway? A Yes, sir; this
Givides the twe Tamilies. '

Q There are two families on thet smell hallway? A m.
sir, |

Q@ Then each of those two families have another deorf?
A Yesn, ﬂil"’.

Q@ Ya that correst? A Yes, sir; two or three doors a9~
cording to the rooms,

Q Now, in the measurement of twelve feet you have not

includes this small hallway? A Neo, sir,



LA e

.
.

o AR ANI i AR v ’ s
" -
. .

" E’KET{J(};‘ ek i)

of them all. 4
Q Can you sive any reason te the jury ﬂ'

Cbhineted te, Objection swwtained.

GM‘BB-!QUMWATION RY MR, XRESKL: :
Q i’h&t time were you there? A I m th“ '_
past tvq}vo vesterday.
Qé‘jﬂf-lmat twelve? A VYes, sir.
Q In the afternoen? A Yes, #ir, noontime. |
Q 'In that the enly time ya: were Lhere? A Mt
vesterday I wes there around half-past twelve, or h

one, I should say,

Q Were vou ever there in the evening? A No, sir,

PRCOSPRER CACGCC IATORR“"““‘.”“‘)“.‘\':'V
of tho deferdant, baing duly swern, testified as fﬂl,”‘;’&
DIRROT RXAMINATION BY MR, PAIMIERE; = Wi i

4 Are you the vise-president of any sosiety? A m,,', o

sir.,
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Q What i» thatf society? A A mutual sosisty, ﬂm
ess, !;f

Q Where did you reside on the 26th of Nesember, &8

the night of that day? A Yes, sir,
Q “here? A 2078 Pirst a.vom'. i
qQ Is the barroom of that lady there, whatever her m
is, ia her husbend’s nane, Viggiano, e Yow, m.;l
ghe is the wife of the men wio keeps the plaee. :
Q What time wers you there? A I wes there 8‘0‘1“  ;
o'e¢lock when I went to the mesting. e E&
Q Did you hear any shots st anytime that night?
A About half'-past ten, i
7 Tell the jury when vou hesrd those shots, What did
you de with respect 1o rushing t oward the deer? A Ve all
'got up £nd wanted to get out, ‘ )
0 What digd lirs. Viggianoe say o you vhen ssked “M
the docor? A We went to gpen the door, but wve remained in ' g
the place, '
Q NDid ghe parmit you t 0 open the door? A Ne, sir; m‘.
wouldn't let um, 3
0 How long wes 4% bafore she would permit anybody te

open the doort A Shw opered the deer sbout five mimut e



after and w were all looking at thas deor,

Q Did she say to you any reasen vhy you sheuldn't open

the door? A Yo, sir. | | ‘

Ohjested to. Ohbjestion suntained. Rxeep tion,

Q Tel)l the jury what oscurred there Tive minutes ¢

wvards, who opened the door? A She opened the door?

0 How @id she open 1t? A Just a little bit so she

could mee harself. We Adn't see anything and we went to
look through the vu“, and we Aidn't pee m&lﬂ'.

Q When she opened the door in the manmer you a»mn
vhat was the conditich of the hall, was it light or aark?
A Da.rk.

 When she opemed the door erfd locked through, what aia
she sy to you? A She said, "It is nothing."

Q@ What ocsourred after that? A We returned :lmldi\ of
the plaese.

Q@ Who shut the deor? A One of the members.

Q When Mrs. Viggiane held the door in the condition
in which yoi1 have desgribed, did you see any men pass thaere,
or if & man Aid pasr there, did you hear any foetsteps?

A Wo, sir, nonr'.
Q Did you ask Mrs, Viggiano as te who did the sheoting,

er anything about that? A Ve asked snc she said she aidn't



xnow who, Ghe sadd, "I den't know,*
Q Did she tell you she saw somebhedy pass through?
A She didn't tel)l me Mﬂl\m
Q About how many pimutes afterwards aid you pee ﬂm“x
vho olaimed thet ke had been wounded, this ¢anplainent, wbow
how meny mimutes afterwards? A About fiftesn minutes,

0 You maw him downsteirs? A No, siF; ke callea the
o mm-. :

&

and afterward another mdiber comes im and W,

president; sameholy ealled the presidént to

is al)l oyer, becsuse the president M; the ooc%.;y *‘lﬁ o
i ~ '*::‘ iy

A You can't state the scomvermmtien in the mosiety roem
between other peagple there., A We all went out, i

. You all went out? A Yes, sir;. and we geen this M‘
low here with & hele in his am. ‘

6, Did you spesk to him? A Yes, sir, we apoke to him,
and asked him what was the matter, and he said, "I am shot;*
that is all. ;

Q Nid you ask him whe shet him? A Yes, sir.

Q What did you say? A I said, "Whe shet yeu?"

Q@ What did he say? A He said, "I didm't see; it m
“rky.'

Q@ You e to the destor's w'iiee with him?



A Yes, sif, I aia., I went to 113th street, then ‘

114th street; but the dostor enly let him eome in, B

there was too many there they wouldn't Jet ws in.
Q Duwring wll t.‘-t 14dme, " 10t time "hf‘iﬁi at

d\oottnﬂ A No, sir.

Q D18 he sey sny remson vhy he wes shot; 08 yeu
him why he whs shot? A Hé seid he was going in the cla

CROSS-EXAMINATION: BY MR, XRESEL:' SN
2 Is that all Be said? A Yes, eir, B b ,. ;
Q Going to the doset? A Yes, sir; going te M :
and he got shet.
G Where was this meating? A 2076 First svenue,
Q What part of the muilding? A Down on the ground
floer,
Q@ In the asleoon proper?t A Not in the sdloen, htﬂ
back roc.'. ’1 |

"

Q@ In the roam bhaek of thae saloen? A Yes, Bir.



through the hall. ‘

- Q There are two doors from the roem where M“
meeting, is that right? A Yes, sir,

Q One door lemds inte the hallway? A Yes, sir,

Q And the other lends into the ssloon? A Yes, sir.
Q Is thet right? A Yes, sir. |
Q@ Now, which one of those deors did you try tb M
which Mrg, Viggiano wouldn't let you open? A The “
goes into the saloon.
Q@ The one that goes into the saloon? A Yes, ltifw‘
Q@ 8o that the deor was not open? A Ne, sir, it was
not open,

At no time? A At no time.

&<

G Did you epen any deor at all? A Ne, sir, I Aid not,

Did you Yook through any door? A No, sir, we ﬂi_‘- not

30 vyou den't know whe passed in the hallway? A Ne,

R

Q

Q You did met? A Ne, sir,

Q
sir, I Aid not see anybody pass; I don't know whe passed,
Q You ajidn't look through the deert?t A Ne, sir,

Q B¢ you dam't know who passed, if you didn't epen sny

L
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door? Mow Aed you know that Mrs, vlumo opened m W
and looked through? A Because we were all in the m
and we 8l)l wanted t0 get out &t that time,
4 Did yvou see her open the deor? A Yes, sir, I saw
open the door, g ._.S'J:
Q How eould you mes that if both of your m%
closed and they were not mn at enytime? A Mmﬂ

Qﬂn“o
Q@ Whieh one wis opefiad? A The one thet goes tm"’ :

the hall, through the hall into the saloon.

Q There was & door on the room vhere you were mestinmg?

P
% ek b 3420
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A Yea, nir.

Q V¥as Mrs, Viggiane in the room where you vere DOW
A Ne, sir. :

Q How eould she open the deor fram the room the re
you were meeting? A We opensd it om'm.

Q I thought you teld us & mimute age that the door mt
cpenied by vou? A It was net opensd then, ﬁ‘lv ves opened
after a while; we opened it-- Mrs. Vigglans, sle» came in w «
opened the door, |

Q She oeame inte the roem where you were meoting amit

opened the deor? A Yes, sir,
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A Wo,

Q

Q
Q
Q

her if she saw snybody, end she seid ne? A That was after,

wvhen 1t vas a1l over.

Q

tion with her, (No anmwer,) rY

Q
Q

seir, I den't remember,

You aidn't open it? A Ne, sir,

Yhy alan’'t you open it? A Becsuss I om’t open

Why not? A She sald there wn;\mtht..
he sedd it waan't anything, ant that is “ w
open it? A Yes, #ir, that is vhy we ﬂ”’*”
P& you mee snybody slse &t the door mm
A Her urother. |

Whose hrother? A Mrs. VW'Q W.

Mra. Viggiona's brother? A Yes, Iﬂ'. "

You dddn’t go to tha deer? A No, sir, I &h‘i“‘;‘ :
Niad yeau haw & eamversation with Mrs, W
No talk &t all? A Yes, sir, no telk at a33.
That is righty A Yes, sir,

Absolutel y nothing? A Nothing.

NDid you say on your diect examinmtion that you nttl

You just now sedd that ven d#n't have eny oWerse~

Do vou know the compleining witsess? A Yesterday,

You knew him zince yesterday? A Yes, sir.



terday, why did you state on yowr ai ot examination m >

had & conversation with him, and that you went to the W

tor's with him? (No answer,)

2 Yhom did you mean &8 heving known sines
(No angwer,)

Q "Whom did you mean vhen you answersd my qﬂiﬂﬂ i
that you knew him only singe yesterday? A 1 don't mm
camplainent means. R

Q So you smswered my question without knowing what 4t
was, 4id you? A VYes, sir, I geve an answer to that which
you asked me,

Q@ Do you knew NDamenico Aderisio? A Yes, u'ﬁ".

Q How long hwve you known him? A I knéw him from
I knew him in Ywaly,

Q In Tiady? A Yaa, sir,

Q@ How long haw you known him in this country?
A I know him about thrse or feur menths,

Q@ Did you wee him on the night o this shooting?
A Neo, aidr, I dién't see him when the shooting happened, but ;
I saw him afterwards. | L

Q@ On the night of the sheoting? A The seme night,



w SRRV 17 g

Q Wat 43¢ he tell you about the shooting? =
A T eadd, "Vou are wounded;® he seid, *Yea;® I ﬂt. 'ﬁt
adad 147" He seid, *J don't know; it was th' . oy
Q Anything else? A That is al) he said, Then we

in the drugstore, . S 5 ?, v
Q Is that all he told you? A Then when Q&tﬂ
drugstore I talked to him agaln, anad ¥ m‘ *Is Lt & YOF

bad wound, is it & bad wownd,* and he saif, "Ne, it T

Q@ Is that all he sndd te you abont the otin,
A That is all, | G

Q DAGR't he tell yeu hew the aheoting Sees it
A He said he was on his way to the m.rolm in the hall~
way~- there is this water cleset-- he was on his way to the
water closet, snd he heard & pistol shet and he was wounded,”

Q@ Did he sey theti he had may tsdk with the man whe ﬁn i
him? A No,' gir; he Adidn't know him; he sadd he Cﬁ‘t M %
him ,

Q Mid he say that he had any trouble vith the man whe
shot him? A Wo, sir, he didn't say snything abeut that.

@ Now, when was the next 1i.e hat you saw each othert
A I didn't pese him sinee.

€@ You hoven't seen him sinee watdl you sav him in sourt

now? A Yes, air,



Q Up to this time you aidn't know whe iﬂ tl‘ '
A Up to vhean? .
Q To-day? A Ne, sir, : | FHE o
Q You dildn't know? A Ne, sir. That il tﬂﬁ..ﬁ
I dian‘t even know t)at men (indisating the Mnﬂﬂ.
Q You dan't know Lthe defendunt at &ll¥ ﬂ | Wv

by sight, but I never knew his name. gy

Q To whoem did you tedk about this omse firsl?
A With the lawyer, WMr, Johny Pelmieri, S g

Q When' A This meming in his off ’

Q I8 he the first man that you spoké tof A Yes, '”‘1

4 You never spoke Lo emybedy at 8l sbout mlm
until you speke e Mr, Palmierl this moeming, is that rlﬁw
A Yes, sir,

Q8 What is that? A Yes, sir, nebody elme,

Q@ Nobody alse? A Yo, air, :

Q Mr, Palmieri is the £irst men you spoke to about thlﬂ‘
case, 1is that right? A Yes, s ir,

QR You didn't tell anybedy a8 t o what you knew about the
Came, or what Alderleio teld you abeut it, unt i) you teld
it te Mr, Palmiori this morning? A Ne, sir,

U That 48 right? A Yeas, air; T didn"t sey 4t Lo any~

one,
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Q Do you unde rstand me? A Yes, sir, I aidn's " to
anybody about the affedr,
@ There is no mistake sbout ity A No, sir,
Q Nid you see the defendant on the night of tlﬁ s
A Yo, sir. ‘ b
5 Retween Negemhar 208th and the rmmi aate , dﬁltﬁ :
see tho defendnt? A Yo, sir; T aid not, i
Q Nia vyax pee his wife? A No, sir,

R Did you tadk to her? A Ne, kir, ;

Q Tell us how vau came to o to Mr, P&lﬂa‘l‘!"

this morming? A T received & summons 1.0 @ppear before Rim.

Q ;r*(au regeived & swwons 19 appear before Mr, Pmt'
A Yeor, gir. ‘ e

Q Heve yau got that sumpons? A T gave 1t at the W,&'.
A youngman came (o see we about Mr, Palmieri who sent him, “
I said I don't want 10 cane besause J den't know sbout the
sase, about ' he shooting, and I seid, "if you went me, give
me my day's wapes,"

Q Then vyou went dowm t o Pelmieri's cifice? A He l.iﬂ;
*If yvou want to hew your wages 20 Iirst L¢ the offiee.

Q Then you went dom o Mr, Pulmieri's office?

A Yes, sir,



Q And yaa found out that you knew & great “
the came, didn't yaeu? |
Objected to. Objeetdon suMiained,
Q Wall, vou knew about the sase all that yeu
to to-day, Aidn't you, #t the time that C\O r )
your house? A Yesn, sir; just viat I tola \O m ﬁ ﬂ m
as I know, . S
Q Yot vou tdhd the youngmen yar @idn’s Mmm j‘-';'
about 1t? A I said to him, *X don't now u.m nn M"
end he saild to me, "Cane to the oﬁ’i' anl you iﬂ-‘ m
why vou &re wantied,
Q@ DiA vou get the day's wazes pafd? A Ne, sir, net
yot. g |
0 They pramised it to yeu? A VYes, sir, Mr, Palmd~
eri or the yvamngman said-- the yom(pu said my wagzes wiil

be paid,

PRANCESCO MALO, ¢ witress called on behalf of
the defendant, heing duly sworn, testifisd as follaws:
DIRECT RXAMINATICW RY KR, PALNMYERT;

L Did vau eltend the meeting of this seniety of whieh
the witness who preeeded you 15 the vice-president, wupen the
might of the 26th of Necember, 1904, in the back roam of Mrey

Viggiane's se.loon?y



' shots,

Q When vau heard the shets whet did el ﬂ’i;

wvhat is gzoing on.

QO When youn went @ the barroom what ¢id I&m

A Well, the lanalbrd ajon’'t went t o open the “
said "Wait, semeone will fire in the berroom,"

Q Who was the landlord? A Th' Jenlady,

Q How meny miputes «fter wardh aid you attempt teo
the door, or was the Goor opened? A About I ive MM‘”

Q Will yoai tell the Hwy how Mre, Viggimno opened t
door? A &he first opened it & Y¥ietde ajar, and she was lof
ing out i1 she see anyone, and then the Acer was cpewd “
we all went out,

Q@ Nid you see anyboedy when she opened the deoor in t).n
econdition in which vyou have deseribed? A J wasn't near un
door and I gauldn’'t see anybody; it wes dnrk., |

Q The Jight wes tirnea off? A 1t was dark.
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Q Were the lights turmed off in the hallway? A m

was no light; it was dark, 3

Q@ Did Mrs, Viggionn tell yeou at anytime that ﬁm
that she saw the defendant, or saeons that loﬂﬁ 1ika the 5
defendant, with a light mrooﬂt. peass by her, in & pm." :
leisurely mammer? e he ekl |

Objected to, e

o Did  she ever tel) yeu, while ahe held the docor ajear
in the position in which vai havwe deseribed hlf‘kt!‘t ahe
had seen any person that looked like the mm.ﬂtt g
light overcoat, pass by her? L

Ohje cted to, Objegtion suwtained,

o Did Mrs, Viggions say anything as to what she saw
wheén ghe opare @ the door?

Obilected to, Ohlection sustained, Exception,

2 Did you see the wounded man, or the man vhoe ¢ almed
he was shot by the campleiment, oene dowm ahout twn minntes.
afterwards? (Vo m!wur)'.

¢ Nid you see the wounded man aftarwards? A Abput fif-
teen ninutea eftorwerds I sean him,

% When ha come Jown, vhat 714 vou dof A He same dowm
ebout f1ftean minutes later,

G Where Ald you see him? A T sev him in the street;
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they ware going o the doster's.

Q DNifl you go along? A Yed; sir, I went along. (
Q Nid yau know the c,”mt that onuiﬁ. this DQ- :
enico Alderisio? A No, sirj that was the firet tm r*i’
him; I never knew him before that time, ‘ APy ,
Q Did vyom esk him any question ¢s 1o how he wan w a
or vho wounded him? A VYes, sir; I talked to hi.o £ s
A Whe a1d you smy toWdm or he sey to ya? A I asked
him, I said "Who was it," and he seid, *Hew could I m; M :
vas dark," B
Q@ Did he tel)d you that he saw e men wvhe ahot him? s
A Yo, eir; "X onby felt I was wounded; but T didn't ses, 1t

vas dark,

CROS\-RXAM ITWATION:
Q Did vou ge with him right to the @eetor? A VYes, sir,
0 You wealked with him strajght fram his house t o the
doctor? A VYes, sir,
O Tas that right? A VYea, «ir,
QA You walked right beside him s0 that you could talk
te hin? A Yes, sir; we ware welking end one asked him '

quest ion ~n1 the other saked him e guestion, and no T S0NSER"t

'Pﬂ"l all the t ime "))\-m.



Q Mov mny pecple ware there? A Thers was o
there was seven c¢r eight othar men, He ~"t ﬂ;j
body; he must telk to one man; there was #o m M
the wounded man so that I couldn't ad) the tﬁ m W,

Q How many peeple waere there Foing Vm m !O W

tor? A About seven or e ight men.

,{ ,_{i;;.
Q You didn't kmow the eeplaining -zwa “m
yaw? A Yes, pir; T diin't know him batore M
the other people said that he is a brother of l‘u
of the soociety, ;
MR, KRESRL: T ask thet thit be atrieken m .
vhat other people u\.id.
THT. COURT: Yea. 7 |
6 You Aidn't know him hefore that evening? A Neo, mﬁ .
0 Yhy M6 .oa go edong with him to the &Oﬂtﬂl" A ”"
cause T sfw that his braher was with him, and 8o I went] T °
know his bhrother,
1 You know his brother? A Yes, aftr.
Q "™it is why vou weni with him? A Yes, sir,
0 Vow many other pecple did you see the defondant talk
to on hia way to the doctor? A A1)l talked to him.
A Al edght o them talked 10 him whils he was going to *

the dogtour, is that right? A Yes, air,



man, it was dark.*

Q You heerd him say that, a4 yoau? A Yes, sir;
w

is what he saia, 3 : G e
Q@ I ask yau who were some of the Mt”m;
mong theme sight? A Caeelmtore wes one, and Ja
and Cipianc, \nnd anether one here; I am not ﬁ»ﬁ
of averybody, 37 A
Q Did ya}‘ﬁw/iv.h- eamplednant telk toall of t
those that you have mentiensd? A Yes, sir,
Q You hesard him ®msy to sach one of them thai he lmg ‘_
know whe ahot him, ien't that right?t A Yes, sir.
Q That was his only answer to everything that you
him? A That Yit vas derk, T eouldn't mee." ;
Q Tt wvas derk, «nd Le caddn't sse? A Yes, sir,
9 When you loeked inio the ssloen the door was wide open
wasn't it? 1
Objacted to,
Q Yhen yeu leeked out At was wicde gpem at that idme,
wvasn't 1t? A VYes, sir; ve wont (hrogh the same deer there
whaere e lanfllady opened it Alar a 1ittle it before that.

Q But the Mrat dme that yos Jooked cut int o the halls



way the door was wide open wasn't 48% A Yes, ﬂl‘

when we got out it was all opoa.

wes; wes thare any light there? A Xo. air, ”

there was a light. .
Q Was there mny light geing out of the n‘m
door that was wide open? A Not far WD. ﬂy ﬁ g

out si d of m,. door,

Q There was some light, wasn't there from ﬁdw
A Yes, nir. Bl [y 1

Q@ NDe you know the defendant? A 2.,.' sir,

Q@ How long hewe you known him? A hltma

Q Sinee vesterdayy A Yes, sir,

Q A tetal siranger to you up unt il vesterday, is that
right? A Yes, sir.

Q Do veu know his wife?t A Neo, sir.

Q To whom did you first speak sgbeut this case?
A A parpon acquainted with this men here; they spdd you
have te go and be axamined, awl go and tel)l what yau séw and

what you know,



Q Who are those persors? A Joseph Longe,

Q Joseph longe? A Yes, sir,

Q Is he here in court? A Yes, sir,

Q When did you ﬂflﬂa,): t o him sbout this case?
A Yepterday merning.

Q Yesterday morning? A No, sir; the night befers 5

3%

he game and ealled on me in the houme, sl ‘ e

Q@ The night befaore last? A VYes, air., He sawm, %
got tocaee I ar g v itness." |

Q He came so your house? A Yes, sir, He *You
got Lo gome I'or & witheas;" he says het now there s tm
*my #on in law got arrested, And ‘you get Lo oame far &
witneas;" he\ saye, "they night while you were in thp sal oon
sbout that alfair that happened Lthat night; my sgn in law “
arrested end you £ot 10 cane and tell what you knowsibout 119

Q Then were Aid yau go? A I came right in his ﬂmj

Q To the camsed's o:fice? A Yes, sir,

1 And vou 1eld him what you knew about it? A T teld
him just what I t3dlAd here now,

3 That was yest ;ordew, wasn't it? A Yes, sir; he asked

me what I know,

Q Wesn't it yestardey,? A Yes,air,
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Q Yot this morning? A Ne, sir; this morning T wasn't
there,

Q Tell us what yau t.qtd him d’ whict happenad? A .He % ;
didn't ask me aymore; he &sksd me yeptertay; he aidn't *
me eny more this morning. s : i

Q Had vou spoken to the defendant's father in 1‘ M
this case, bei'ore he ceame Lo your house? A Yes, sir; ! wos
telking ¢ o him cnee hefore,

Q You hat spoken 10 him once before? A Yes, str, I
haed, & week &g0,

Q About & week ~go? A Yes, _B”'.o

Q You Lald him what y & knew abeut ths am‘? ‘

A J always se.id the samething that I said here,

Q I know thet, but veu teld him sbout it? A Yes, pir;
I tald him sbout it, about (he saumthing that I teld lere, '

Q How long have yau knowh his facher 15\ 1law?

A Seven yo8rs 8go. |

Q2 Seven vewa? A Yes, sir.

Q How did you happen L ¢ talk ¢ him? Pia ryou knew that
this man was arrested? A Yes, #ir.

Q@ Did you knov what he -vew prrested fory A Well, si)

I heard was in an indifferent way, et he was arrest ol and
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acoused of what happened that evaning.
Q You dian't know him et all, a4 you, this mm«r
A Yes, I know this man seven y®ars age.
Q You knew hil' seven years aget Dian't you Just I
little while agoe say that wm him enly @ ince ,"
A I thought you were talking about the lawyer, s
Q@ 80, you haw known the def'endant i‘o‘r seven 7‘.".";;.

A Yes, air, seven years.

Q You are & friend of his? A Yes, alr,

Q@ Did yon see him on the 26th of NO"’ A m
in partigulsr, only he is an ssquaintanse of mine; T know
him.

Q@ Did you mee the defendant on Christmes Day? A Yo,
sir.

Q Heve vou seen him sinee Christmsas unt U this mern
A Yo, sir., 7 weeen him leots of times,

0 You have sesm him leots of times? A After Christass
I geen him,

Q@ You A44 mee him? A Yes, sir,

Q After Christoma? A Yes, sir,

Q How meny times did you see him after Christmas?

A I speon him about fifty times.
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& week after, w3 e
Q A week after? A Yes, sir. I says, 'm'um

trouble?® T asked him whet is the t.rMa._ MOM ﬁrﬁg

*Somebody shot me downstairs; I diin't know M, % ot
1 What 1s thet? A Me sald, "Semebofy pmmu

I don't know who-- somebedy &8 puttimg on me :m rm thﬁ

I dons that that evewing and T don't know ‘m ¥ :
QA That s all the defendamh #aid 10 ya? A

Q Did he tell you what he was segused of? & m mm

about the shooting; I was talking abeut .he sheoting lwl‘

seys, "J don't know enything shout 1%."

BY M3, PALMIRRY:
1 You wore ¢ mamber of the same seciety of whigh the
complidning vitnass 18 a member and prosidenty? A Yes, sir,
) You sre vary friendly with the p~esident of the

sociely ci' which you are a member, aren't you? A Yes, sir,

LOUI8 T, TANCRREDI, # witnesws I'¢ the pe gple, resalled:
BY MR, PAIMISRY:
Q@ On that might A4d you knedk &t all the Agors on the

Lop floor? A Ne, sir., T™e taep fleer, yes, air,
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At &1l the doors? A Yen, sir. ’
Nid anvbody open their desa? A Ne, ar. '*
No femily opere & the deort A Ne, sir,

Af'ter you knocked at Qn the aoom l "‘n di'
Q Four families on the fleers A m.a.rm b o

-

Q
R
Q
Q

Iies on tha floor,

PRANCO TE LEBERMO, uwttiun mwfu
the defendent, being duly sowrn, fLesti?f
DIRKCT RXAMINATYION BY MR, m:mm: N
qQ Do sou live with yow ¥ ny and mm
biect et ‘.‘.o.
R On the top floor @f theWe promises?
Chiected te, |
Q Where do vou live; where were you 1‘“‘ in
19C<? A 107th Sireet on the top Tleer,
Q Wt number? A 2074,
Q WMere vas this defandant livimg in Necember, 19049
A "w.-, ware living window to window, B
Y Window to window? A Yes, sir. Window t o m
in the seme house; we cin nee efch other; there 1is my wi
and here 13 his windew (nlultrnt.tm).. '
'HE COURT: Strike that aut's it dossn't mean
anything.



A I em not in the sam house; he u\“

each other,

of the Aefencent in 2076 Pirst avemw? A )

the windows.

Q Whet did veu notdoe + De cemb ar m,
respect o the defendant, 14 you wes the
rooma? (Yo amr'.)

@ Did yeu mee the defendent on mom a
19047 A Yen, sir; T saw hin‘. e il

Q Where and what was he deing? A T m m“tb 3
ing; he was eating =t the time, | ‘ :

6 YWhen he got thraugh salivg tiis ewnng-- ala y* ;

tige what time he got through eating? A At W—M
he talked to me threough the windew, and he said, *Well, P
¢o, well, T am going to bed,."

Q Did he sy goed night? A Yes, sir,

L You were vary friendly with this defendent before the
20th of Necembar? A Tour years we were neighbers amt lived
next Lo each other,

A And tadked 10 epsh other quite oftent A Yes, sir;

every evening we umsed L9 talk.



bed,” im that right? A Yes, sir, that is a1 we sadl,

‘"n

Q After Christmas? A He talked to u:uq i
going to hed, Tt was half-pest nine ., % '
Q After he said that to yeu did you m
his roam? A The lights were put out and he we

CROSS~-EXAMINATION RY MR, KRRAEL: e
Q@ You live rf 2074 Firat & venues A‘ 'k
Q. And ihe nei’mMnt'l}.ﬁt ut 2076 tr st
gir, the next houss,
Q Your flat ip parallel with the a«fenrmng
it? A Yesm, wir, it is in = sirsdght line, _
Q@ Just like two han's that way, fen't that right |
trating)? A Tt iae light sleft, an pir sheft, the air
shaf't is between us, »
Q The str sheft 1s h’-}tmﬁ.én‘ vau? A Yes, sir, »
Q So, vou Yearned out ol your winfor through the sdr
shaft end talked to 'he defendent, 644 your A Yes, air;

we could put ¢ hoard peross frem my room and pass to his room.

Q He unid to you, "Fronce, poed, night, I an going te



he pulled his dewn and we went t9 bed, ‘ o

Q But yeu uta?o‘ &t your wimiow 1o sed vhere lnﬂ \
thent A T saw that he toek off hiw pents and m- 3
nim do thet, el

0 You stood at the window and saw him take off his

trousers and shoew, 18 that right? A Yes, wir, by

Q You sew him get into bed, too,? A Neo, sir,

Q@ You Aidn't mes him zet into bed? A No, lﬁ"f’f
see him lsayineg in the bhed, ‘ »

0 But veu sew him get into bed, didn't yu? A Well,
I dddn't pay 80 mueh attention; T shut my winfew and® he shut
his window,

| Q But veu steod at )8 window &nd watehad him untress
himself, Adidn't veu? A T said hafore that he sald good night
and he togk off his shoes and his pantg.

q 90 thao he had the window epen on the 26th of Deceln
ber at half-pest nime, wien he teock his Lroveserg of'f', an was
telking to you throagh che open window, is that right?

A Always in the evening we talked together sanet fnes.

Q Nid veu see him turn cut 'he JMghtt A Yes, sir.
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Q4 80 that you steed &t your window and vew him tum off

the 1ight? A At the sametime thai he 648 T fum
out my light, smi J went to het teoe,
Q Yow, You haw talked with him bat'ere on pthcr Om
ings, haven't you? A Rvery evening we ‘telm tw |
Q Yow rle  veu remember that this was the Mtb of W
cember, 1904 A T Aidn't know anvthing ahout the mtw
that night, but I salked to him every Md\i.
Q Are yeau willing to swear that the night y o are t“*-
* '4ng sbout was ithe 23th of Necemher, 19042 A Yu. ai? “’i“‘“*’“
T will swesr 1 orty times it was the 28th, |
0 How Ao you remesber IVat it was the 26%h?
A 'ali. the day hafore was Christmas; Sundey was Christess
Nay, anAd that was the next day, |
‘ @ This wes (he 26th becsuse the Aay before was the M.
is that righty A Yes, snir; 7 knuy 1 SR A '
A DA vou tadk L0 him the night bafore through the wine
dow? A We selked al noontime; we talked slso in the evening
he day baf ore, |
Q Did vau trlk Lo him on 1he 27th thraugh the window?
A No, pir; T wasn't hame on he 27th; T ees to my hrother's
in 1l4th street,

0 Yell, on the 28thY A Well, I saw him when he e



home From his work, T wes tired and I went to ha

p— not tealk.

The Court admenished the Jury M‘Q*ﬁl

&

cesh,

APTRER RECESS,

- L

ANTOYIO DEROSA, the defendsnt, heing duly wo
in his ewn bshdlf, testif'ied as fel) ows:
| DIRMIT RXMNIVATION HY MR, PALMIERI: >
l S ‘q Vo‘w l.on,; fmvo vou heen in this eamtry? A
| years,
Q Are you a murried man? A VYes, .lf..
s Q Yow many children have you?t A Four.

Objeciad to., Oblaction sustained,

R Tew leng had you been Jiving at the premises 2076
Piret evemus, In the clty and coumby of New Yurk, before the :
26th o1 Negemher, 1904y A Tour yesrs. A5

A "here were vou working, in whose amploy were You 9m
or whout Lho 26Lh of Neaemher, 19047 A Dawson & Argher.,

Q Tn whor ekpuadty? A Hod esrrier. &

Q Fur how many yesurs have von haen dorking 1‘@‘; this g

idmm? A Abour ithree or four YeR" Or more.

Q Were you dn their employ on the 26th day of Necembar,



19047 A Yes, sir.
Q Where ware you working as QM ,
A On 8th avemie hatwsan 73rd and 74th strests,

b

Q MNear what s reet is 2076 Pirst averue

street, isn't it? A Ves, sir,

Q How lons Gosm 4t teke fram your home:

street and Gth xvemie te g6 %o lunoh et 12 o
Ohjected te. ObJedtion sus
Q@ Did yeu ever ge t¢ luneh frﬁ 1'“#

to J07Lh al reet and Pirst m;amo? A Yo, atr. e
Q@ T shew you & peper and ask vew what this ”r ﬁ,
Objested te. Objection pustained, '
Q Were vou ever arrested or ¢anvisted of any ﬂ'h ’
ing the fourtean vears that yeu have lived in this im
with your family, or st anytime before thatY A Neo, sir,
novar.. '
Q Were yYou ever in ey n'wblefbefore? A Yo, ﬂr.
Q Do yoa ettend chureh?
Ohjoar.od te. Objeat lon susteained,
Q On the 26th day ef Decsmber, 1904, te what chureh

aid you 4o with your familyy A
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Ohjeoted to,

"HR COURY: He may sngwer.,

A 115th atreet, _
Q Ant what avenue? A lear Pleasant ﬂ'“'m
Q@ How long were yar in chursh? A Ah!lt ﬂ Q"ﬁ ‘
left the church, Gt |
Q@ Where did yom ge with yar wife am'mm 7:
A Hew to my e ham, | el

Q What did wu Ao hame? A We hed dinaar, snd

remained home, I don't know exaetly, it was tm{

two when I Jeft the house; T went out fa & little while .

Q You steyed out for how long? A T dian't ook &t t&

closk, but it meems 1o me it was pix or seven ¢'elosk when I -

ceme home . ! :

¥ il

4 i
Q After you eeme home what aid you do? A T remained

& little while, and Lhen T had something to eat &nd tien I ﬁ V',
went to hed;, then Y pleyed with the children; them T md'
wife ware tadking for & little while, and Ythen I ate and
hen we went, to hed; 1 telked 19 my neighbor &lso.

Q Did vou hear sy shete fired balow yaur house on the
evening o e L6th of NDegember, 190C4? A Ye, sir,

Q@ Seome testimeny hes been yreduged here by the samplain-



of December, 1904; what o you say sbeut nuﬂ
I Aian’t gee him; T didn't san that man. | hs

Q He says you shot 8% hiﬂ? / Yhat dﬂiﬂw
that? A Neo, pir; Y aia no‘t.'.

Q Did you ever earry & pistel in your 1ifet

A No, sir, hever, -
| Q@ When the off ieer “ to veur rooms ‘Mfﬁ?

pistal in vour rooms? A, NQ,"*?. ‘

Q After vyou retired and went to bed on t'.!u !.
the 26th of December, the 1 dlloving meming, which was D
ber 27th, where did vou go? A J went tomy wark,

2 WMwt time Aid vya: came ham eon the 27th? A Abeut
6 o'clock,

Q@ On the mormning of' December 28th, where @id you go?
A I went again Lo work,

Q Nid you reme In hawe #)) night the ovoning of' the 27th
of Degamber t¢ he "odllowing morning of December 28th? A ‘l
sir,

Q@ NMa amvl.edy knock on sour deor on Degember 26th er
Degembear 27th, 1o vair knowledge, looking fa yeut A Ne,

sir, T 4idn't hesr any,
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Q On Decembar 28th what time 4id you omme hame l‘tu
work? A About a quarter of six or six o'cleck I sam m

Q When you were home what did you de? A !hldlﬂ*
thing to eat, ant then I remained & 1ittle while talking, l‘
then I talked with my neighbor,

Q Then what did you de? A He is just opposites my
window,

4 ‘Then, after that what did youde?t A Then I fﬂt
very tired and I went to bll'.

Q Did you hesr any knoek at your deor abeut sleven ;
o'clock that nighty A Yes, sir, on the 28th. ""“w

Q Who was the one that knocked om vour deor?t A The ' "1
polige, o

L Tell the jury in the same langusge that you used te
the police, the English language, what you said? A The ’ﬁm A
called me; they knocked on the door and they sald: “Whe ,
are you, are you Teny Neroa?® I sadd, *I am Tony Derosa;* I
says, "What do vau want,* they says, "epen the deer.* I
opened the door and they srrested me; they says, "Yeu punt
sour clothes on." I says, "What is the matter; what da yom
wanty"

Q Is that what you sald te the pelice, "What is the

matter; what 4o you want?* A He says, "All right; put em
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your glothes; that is ani.'
Q "Put en wur elethes, that is all?* A m,'-b.
Q Did you domey A Yes, sir.
. Q@ What clethes did you put en? A T went with him. e
Q Yhet o).othu'Md yai put en? A ‘ﬂ\ou clothes; this
coat ,

Q When you say "this coat just identify it on the *ﬁ-

cord; 1§M to know what kind of a cont 4t 49; 4s 1t m
or white; it ie & dlack cont, ian't 1%? A Yes, sir; it 1_: e
black ¢oat, L

Q Did you ever pessess & light awt, & 1ight eversemt?
A No, sir, hever,

Q Weas that the only evercoat you had at that time? €
A Yes, sir,

Q Nid the peliee look fo;-'my ether overeost in your
home? A They logked but they canddn't find sny other ooat
than this. This is the coat that I put en.

Q Is that the first time you hq;urd of any sheeting
having teken plaee in those premises end that yoa wers cherged
with the sheoting? A No, eir; J Aidn't hear fren anyense
thaet there was shooting in the house, only fram the police.

Q Had any peliceman came to your door, as far as ydu

know, from the time of this all eged shooting up teo the time
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¢f your arrest? A Neo, sir; no one cam to my houss,

CRO88-EXAMINATION BY MR, XRESRL: St
Q@ Tor whom are you working now?t A For Dawson h w
Q What job are vou working en new? A Always the m :
job, hod carrier. ' it |

Q What job, what particular place? A Sth avenue “

73rd and 74th streets,
Q On tm\" aveme? A Yes, sir, 8th avenus betwesn ‘f'll

ard 74th streets, the whole blesk,

Q How leng have you been nékiu en that m“,,, o~
A About three mmﬁ\o I have cu‘uond wvork,
Q De yo# kncv the camplaining witness Daminice Alder-
isio? A Ne, sir, I never knewv him,
Q Ne you knew that man (peinting to the caplainantl?
A I know him now bheenuse he had me arrested, 4
Q WVhen was the first time that you ever saw him?
A The same night when I was ano‘tod. I saw him for tho'
first time; I never saw him bd’om’,
Q On the 27th of Necember, Aif yau work? A Yes, sir.
Q On the 38thY A Yes, #ir, I worked on the 28th,
and I was arrested that night; I worked the same day of the

night that I was arrested,
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A Wiere 14 you slesp on the night of the BTN A In
my own home in my bed, o

Q You are net mistaken abeut that? A Yes,sir; I om
sure of it,

Q The first time that you knew thatymmcw

vith the shooting was when the offigers came? A I henrd h
the house there was sauebody was shot; that is all ! ”# '

'Q What did yoeu hear in the heuse? A They oian’t m
me; I heard there was & shoeting in the house. v et

Q T come haek to the s question; The ﬂsﬂ*‘wz‘“
that you knew that you were mocused of the shooting was “
the offigers came to@ the doer, and t <)@ you to dress yourself
and go with them? A Yes, air,

Q There is no uuta:ho about that? A No, nir,

Q DNid vou hear your wife testify this moming? A I
heard her speak, but I den't knew exastly what she sald,

Q $he sald that on the 37th of DNegember, that a brother
in law of Namenice Alderisie came te your house itwice, and
spoke to you abeut the sheeting, and that vhen ywm onme home
she told you &l) about it; is that true? A I don't knew, I
was working &l)l the time,

Q Did yvour wife tell yeu? A He didn't find me in the

house .



Q Did your wife tell you mbout it when you “M
A She tald me when I eame hame that & certain man m th“
who wanted to see me. ‘1
Q She just told you thet seme man was there mm
to see vou, is that a31? A Yew, str, ' e
Q Now, what d4id the pelice say when they came in? '3
A The officer forsed in the door and said that he wanted me.
Q Didn't you eopen the door far him? A I a‘“..
First he asked me my name and I sald Tony Derosa. | ;
Q Before the offiser smme in, what 1A he say te e
A He knocked on the deer, and I said "who's tht;; he un.
“"open the deor;" I seys, "whe is you;* he says, “open the '
door; are you Tony Deross;* I seym, "ves, 7 am Tony mrﬁ.'
I was only in my pents; he saw, put your clethes on;
dres® up Yourself.' I mays, *what yoa say;" he sys, “dress
up yourself;" and so I seys, "What is the matter; I don't
know what 18 the matter with you;* and he says, “fress wp,
that all;" and I saw then it was & peliceman,
QR T™hat is all that wvas seld, was it? A Yean, sir,

Q Dicd he tell you he was an officer? A Suwre, ha told

Q Then, there wasp something else said, he told yau he

was an officer? A He says, "Mress up yourself; that is all |
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he tald me, ' : \4“ : 7
/ Q@ Nia he tell you-~ haw ya tald us every thing that ‘
i i
/ you said to him? A That im all I say. 1

derisie? A No, sir; he didn't tell me nothing.

Q Didn't he tell yeu why he was arresting y m? Bak. .

A I tcld him, "What was he arresting me for, arnd he m.
*well, it was mbout yourself; it is no use.* That is all he

s6id to me and we CANS AWAY.

Q He didn't tell you why he was arresting ye, did W
A I says, to him, "What 1% the matter you cean &rrest me?*

Q NDid he tell you why? A T sayve to him, "What is the
matter with yout"

Q J don't understand, Then you asked him why he ﬂ '
arresting ya and vhat 414 he psay? A He said “dress wp
yourself, dwt's all.¥ He says, "That is &all the ooat ya
got?Y And I dressed myself,

Q@ "That 18 all the ocoat you got?* A Yesn, sir; he says
*Put it en."

Q Anything else he saild? A That is all he sald,

Q You saild en yeur direct exmmination that the lfﬂ.‘l'
searghed your reo@me 1'or an overceat? A Sure ho searghed; T

sald se.
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Q Did he mearch your rowms to find an oversesty =

-

A Sure, ‘ . (e A
Q D10 he search vour roms? A Sure, snd he SAid, I
en your out',' :
Q Do you know of any reasen why Demenize mm
accwe you of shooting him? Did yeau ever h’tw ﬂ'm "“' :
with him? A Ne, lh’v. | |
Q You dan't know him et al1? A T never mm»“

Q He 13 an abselute strenger to 7 A I den't m
him &t all). |

Q@ You mever saw him in the housg where you were living
unt 11 the day you were grrested, ig that r ight?
A Yesn, sir; that is the time I kneow hll',

Q That 1 the {irst m-_ vén motdced him? A Yeosn, nir.

Q Did yau knew Lhat he was shet baferes you were arrest-
ed? A J know that this meanm was shet, but I 4id net haw
anything to do with him, or anything of the Aiffisulty, ne-
thing at «l)l about it mere,

Q Wheo tald you that Aldaril'to was shot? A Nebody ex-
actly told me he was shet, but I heard the pe ople in gemral
say ®mo,

Q That 18 all you know abeut 447 A Yes, sir; that
is all I know about 1it,
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SABATO VIGORITO, a vitnens oalled - ,
the defendant, deing duly m. teptified as mm i
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. PALMIERL: ' .
Q Do you know Lthis defendant? A Yes, sir.
Q What is yeur businesst A My business—- I was olmu'*
years aomtragter and now I am in the saloen business.
G You own your ewn house 2237 Second avemie?
A Yo's.k wir,

Q How far im your heuss from the aorumt.'- It“ ”,

Pirst avenue? A I live at 2257 Second avemus and in
low lives &t 3OJth street and First svenus. g

Q 50767 A Yes, air.

Q@ Tat is enly & few doors away? A Ynu.'-h‘.. ‘

Q How meny years have yai knewn him and his fﬂﬂ»}"
A I know that gentleman about eight years.

Q Do you knew other pegple that know his reputation? '
A Yes, sir, |

Q What is his reputatioen in the leeality in which he
lives for pence A quietneas, good or haft? A Well, any~-
body ocan say he is & good, hard@-working man an? supports his

Tamily nigely; that is al) I know se¢ far.

CRO 88-EXAMINAT ION BY MR, ¥XRESEL:
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Q What is ywur business, did you say? A My é

Contrastor, 1ok Sl iy

Q Are you now enghged in the contrasting nm fw i
A Yen, sir, |

Q You den't own & saloen? A I —'u the ldm .
business too, | Gk

Q Why din’t you tel) us you were in the -ﬂm us:
A I said I amacomtrastor and in the saloen bus iness "N
Q Where is your saleen? A 2136 Pirst avemus. ;

Q What street is that near? A mltﬂh e

Q@ What is vour sasquaintance with this “hU‘ﬁt. how
did you came teo know him? A Y knew this gentleman; I met
him lotes of times on the atreet, and talked 1o him, lﬁ# M
is all T know 80 far. £ b

R You just met him en the street and talked to him?
A Yes, nir., "

Q@ Have you spoken Lo anyene about the defendant’s M
character? A X know that gentlemen for a long time; that
.h a1l I ean say.

Q Have you spekan Lo snybedy about this defenmiant's.
character?y A Yes, sir.,

Q@ Teo whem? A Well, & Jot of people,

Q@ To whem, and when? A All the time I meet him, this
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gentleman, every day, begsuse X am on the street,
N ¢ Q Y asked veuifymhadovordtwtm::

going to ask the people Qut kind of & man 18 nm
Q Then yu didn't ask tham? A Neo, sir, 1 m tﬁ" |

Y '\9.‘ ;'"
& ‘:.{"‘»"'k“ o
e

men myself,
A You didn't ask them? & @ I know the mmﬂﬂ

that is a1l T got to say, I knowulot of pegple that mf
hed eanything to sey about the bMM; tMt llm ! “
Y. | ; frw ;
Q You didn't apoifa to snybed y about his m*’
A Tt wasn't my business 19 ask them what kind of aman in
this; I know myself; but aiuo pecple say he im & good .man;
that i8 ] T know,
Q@ Did yau ever talk t o anybedy about the Mutm'a
charagteor? A It waan't my business to ask thou..
(uestion repeated,) A Ne, sir,
' Q Then when you say he has & ¢ood reputation yeu are
giving us enly your own epinien, is that se? A Yes, sir, ;
Q Ta that right?t A No, sir; that is all right; T enly
can say it im all right, net my epinien, A

Q You e&re telling vs what y e think of the defendant,
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is that right? A Yes, sir.

Q@ That is your owmm judgment, fsn't ‘
Q You den't know what other pegple t ‘ m -"“

e

Yes, sir. : il

Q What is thet? A Becmuss I esn ses him, :
Q4 Do vau knew whet other peeple m of m :

den't know, da yeu? A T can't makes &n

pecple; I can may what T know, ‘ e
Q@ You ean say enly wvhat you know m W, A

sir,

REBUTTAII

FANNIE ALDERISIC, e witneas call ed on behalf of the ”“&
in rebuttal, testified as foll ows: ~
NIRECT RXAMINATION RY MR, KRESEL: ‘
Q Are vou related {o NDemenice Alderisio? A Yes, lili

he is my brother in law. |
Q He is @& brothar in law of vours? A Yes, sir,

Q You are married 1o his brether, is that right? A Yap

sir. =

@ Do yau know Mrs, Neresa? A Ry sight,
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Q You saw her? A Yen, sir,

Q Ts that the lady? A Yewn, sir,

Q Do you remambar sesing har on tha 27th of Degembar,

1904? A Yen, sir. g R

avenue,

Q@ Jn whasehouse? A In Demenige Mri!&."# um

Q@ Whe e«lse was present at the ttﬂf A
Alderisio, a sister in law of mine. G |
Q A silster in law of yours? Whe else? g

é Damenice Alderisie in the house, FE e aad
F Q Demenice, that is the campla ining UIW" l %

sir.,

Q You had & somversatien with her fhire, d1d yau?

A Yen, #r, | B M vy :
Q Did she show yau anything at that tlu.," A m, m
qQ What dicd she show yau? A A gray coat, amt am

soft alpine hat. (’
Q Did ahe bring that t e ¥y eur spartment ! &t that tine?

A The sent a ¢hild dom with them; after she went u’lml_'li

after the canversation; after the conversation she sent &

child down with the cemt snd hat,

Mra, Derose testified this merning that she at ne time



spoke to vm, that she Aid net speak to you on the Mﬁ
December, 1904; that she never spoke te the cﬂm B
vitness NDemenice Alderimie; that she never showed you or him
any aoat or hat, is that trus? A Certainly net. The | \

showed me the cont mnd hat.

OROSS- RXAMINATION RY MR, PALMINRI B G

A What @id she do with that camt? A fhe sent & m
down,

Q Do I understand yon 9 say tht the wﬂ‘. ﬁ M ,
fendant teok & aext, which was & gray Gost, ﬁ’c hﬂ' hulhﬂ't &
epartment s and showed the gray eoat 1o you £nd to andther Jady
A Yes, air, ' -

Q You had & 'ul) view of 1t, in that right? A Yes,
gir; I just knew what she was talking sbout,

Q@ Yeu hat & full view of the ceat? A Yes, sir,

Q You are sure that it vas & gray ceat? A Why, eer-
tainly.

QG What baceuse of the coat? A T doen't know what besame .
of the caat; he could have threwn it away, |

Q Did the wife ef the defendant show it t o yeu?

A The ghilda breught it wp lﬁ&i‘ﬁ.



Q The gray coat was shown t o you and then the gmy cost %

was brought hask to the apartments? A Yes, sir,

| 8 SR

Q Where the pelice arresta’ the defendant? A Yes, ’
He brought it up in his own house again.

Q Where he was arreste@? A Yes, sir,

LOUIS ' .STANCREDX, & witnems for the people, recalled in re-

buttal, testified as fellows;
DIR R'T BRAMINATION RY MR, KRESKIL: i

Q On the night that veu arrested the htm“. m:’ﬁ
search ilie &partments for a cent? A Neo, sir,

Q You @14 net? ' A Ne, wir,

Q Did yai make any memreh of his spartments for sny-
thingt A We aidn't sonreh anything; we didn't see mnything.

Q@ Nid you tell the defendant when you arrested hilv i
what you ¥ere garresting him for? A Yes, sir,

Q He temtified here, under eath, that yeu difn't ‘tiﬂﬁ
him & word abent what yoau were urqtiﬁc him for; that yﬂ ”
Just teld him te put en his clethes and came with you? A Ne
sir, .

Q You aid tell him? A Yes, air,

Q What 44 ya teld him? A T teld him he wes arrested
on the canplaint of Alderipie.
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Q Por what? A Feor sheeting.
Q After yai teld him that ye: wers mmmm 4'
arrest for shoeeting Alderisie vhat @ia the defeniant -w’

A He said that he dldn't de anything; that this was ,"“'éi.f
Q Didn't de anything; this was spite work? A T .

Q@ There has heen same testimeny here as ,” the “"“ 7
character of the defendant, did you make any inquiry ”“ u
the defandant's reputation for pease and quietre s m. or
net A No, sir, : 4
Did you make sny dnguiries in the hause whare he l&,-

ed? Yen, sir.

o > o

With referenee te his reputation for penss and quiet-
ness? A Yea, sir, s,

Q What @ld you Find 4t te he, geod or bady

Objeated te. Objection mustained,

BY MR. PAIMIRRI:

Q Sinees vou Aidn't leok for a cont, J want te know
if you loeked f'or m pistel? A Ne, sir, we didn't loek feor &
pistel; we didn't want t o disburd the house,

Q You didn't want te @i sturb the house?
A No, sir,

Q Yeu theught it was quite seme disturbance te look faor

a pistel, dimm't veut



A Both; we were chere at the ssmetise.

is

he?

Q@ You were twe off igers there? -

Q Where is the @ her offiser? A He is hers.
Q The other offiser arrestad this \bw

q .
A Mangome talkad to him? A Yes, siry he e

the doery"

qQ

L L& L L D > o

O‘l‘m“ te,

Obhjected te, Dbjmiﬂl O.mda

Whe was the man that made the arrest?

You spoke toe? A Yes, mir. g wi
You first knoeeked at the deor?t A Yes, M e :
You knocked at the deor very gently, QW’t Yﬂ
sir. ' }
Then the defendent said, *Who is theret A Yew, sd
And than vou said "police?* A Yes, -a-‘. | .

Ne, sir; he says “wait,.* ol
Then he put semething en him? A Yes, sir,
Same trousers or semething? A Yes, sir.

Then he spened the deer? A Yes, sir,

Then he says, "What do you want?* A Yes, sir,

Then you teld him wimt? A We teld him he was under
R



dersie, | | |
Q What A1d he smy? A He sadd that was spite, : ‘
Q@ Bur he d4dn't say anything? A Yes, »ir.
Q It must be sagne spite work? A Yu, dr.
Q Nia, ho tell yeu whether it was en the M yg!&
landlady? A He aian't sy that; ne, sir, SO
Q BRetween the night of the 26th of W&_w :
night o the sheeting, and the éath of m.
the defendamt? A Neo, air.
Objested te. Objestien ‘mrnd'llc Mttm

Q Were you leeking fer him? A Yes, sir.

Q Were vou around the yrlni.le' R076 Pirst avenus?
A Yes, mir. e

Q Hew leng were Sou around there hetween the ﬂ‘lh‘ﬂ
the 28th of December? A Morning, nifht snd day. = 1 1 r_'?

Q You were watehing for him? A Yes, sir. ;

Q@ Nid yau mee him enter the house bhafore you plased hin
under arrest? a4 Yes, sir.

Q You saw him enter the house vhen? A The night of

the 28th.

Q How leng hefore yau sstuslly pleaced him wwer arrest?



the flm'.

‘the lgi'chtf A Ne, pir,

D dg®

A Abeut an hour, VGl # g, —=

Q S0 vou allewed him te go up to his roosw? A Yes, &

sir, for his swper and go t o bad,
Q Then yeau went wp and plased him under arrest?

A Yosn, sir.

Q Did you make sany investigation in the hMdlway ﬂtm
this shoeting is said te have taken plase? A !‘QQ. a&r..

iy

Q Did veu find any bullets there? A Yes, sir, m. i

Q Where dia vew find them? A T found one was W‘. 5

in the hall, & i
f1-

Q When did yeu make an investigation? A We ” o

, : i 3

the same might that we made the arrest-- we investigated &Q

sheoting. :

Q Where aid veu ftnd them? A Ore in the hall in the

rear & the building was anoﬂdod in the dnr. and ene on

BY MR, PALMIERI: : :

Q When Yau leeked for thsse bullets, Aid veu l\;ﬁ a
light, or aid yeu leek for them without any light at all?y
A When I went in there was & light there.

o q Cemld you leek for themse bullets witheut turning on
’ﬁw . R ]
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L Q Was it dark?
A JR PRy -
: .4/

Objeated te, Objsstion sumtained,

Q Before regess you didn't may & werd sbeut loeking

for the defendsnt, Aid yeu, that is, bafore we adjourmsa M

luneh? A I wasn't aaked. |
Q Tell me at what place yoeu leeked for this M’f‘

& aid vou go to Dawsen & Argher; 410 yeu ge te -rm»nut M o z '
8th ayvenue? A Neo, sir; we heard that-- i gk %

MR. XRESEL: He aidn't finish his smswer. |
MR, PALMITRI: He eampletely avswersd hy ques-

R S S,

tien by saying ne, _ ;
THE COURT: What he heard wewld net be 'ﬁ“m ‘
Q You knoaked mt thess deors on the tep fleert = :
A Yew, sir, g 1y ;,‘ *
Q@ When you reeseived ne respense did yen OMM te
| sn entranes threugh any of thews deors? A T @ian't Toree in
any deer, ! | ' ‘
Q 3! it custemary whare a man is charged ﬂﬂt m
ancther man, threa times in a hdlm. forymte ‘anw’ m
to ge upstairs, eat his supper, and remein there for an iﬂ’ﬂ
Obj eat od te.
Q Weuldn't you apprehend him as Soen a8 you saw m.m

L

bring him te the statien house?
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Objectad te, Objaotltﬂ sustained, ’”tlﬂo
Q Is that eustemary in your prasties, of fiser, te sllew

a man whe 1s charged with sheeting anether man, threes tims,

te go upstairs and stay thers an hewr hefere you make AR ar~
rest?y i

Ohjeet et to, Objention sustained, Rxesptien,

Q Nid veu returm te this house yeurself on the night
of the 27th of Nesember, 18047 A We meen him,

%

Q T sk you if you retumed to thess resms? A Ne, air,

Q Yes or no?t A Ne, sir, -‘}f

Q Nid Officer Mangens ge te these recma, the ether | |
of figer who has net been examined heret A Ne, ltr..

qQ Did yau go teo thowe reems 4n the deytismt A Ne, sir,

Q Did you ge te this defendant’'s reems sarly on the
morning of the 27th? A Ne, sir.

Q Did vau go te this defe vant's reems on the svening
of the 28th & December, 19047 A T was net heme at M
time. .

Q Did yar go to his roems? A Ne, sir.

Q NDid yvau know this defendant hefore that dayt
A Yes, air, I knww him, .,

Q Where di4 vou gee him? A He was dessribed to .

Q@ He was deseribed te yeut A Yes, sir.

S e T oot i e i
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Q Yeu enly kmew this defendant frem the deseriptien
given yeu?t A Yes, sir.

Ry relativeat A Yewn, sir.

By the harkeeper? A Ne, sir. :
By relatives¥. . A- Ne, sir; by outside pn_p:m_. '
By outside pecple? A Yes, wr.

o L L DL D

Outsiders garve veu 'the dessriptiont A Yen, ﬁ.‘!’- ,
Q Did you remain all night en duty there in h'llt;’ ‘
the hall? A Yes, sir, all nid\t.. . &

Q Yeu stayed there all day the fellewing day? A Mn o
sir.,

Q4 Yeu did the saxe thing tha ether night? A Yes, sir,

Q You alwars stayed in f'ront o this plase? A We

2 e R 3 A% -
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atoed sbout ten Teet from the door, downstadrs in the hall.
Q Yeu always did that? A Yes, #ir, ve slways ai4 that-
-~ not & far distance, we could see mnybed y going in and out.
Q You remained right there? A Yes, sdr,

Q@ During reecessz you had a cenversstien with private
counsel en the ¢ther side of this presesutien, didn't yeut
A Ne, ailr, '

Q Didn't yau talk with him in this cawtroom, when '
the jury and the Judge went out vyai telked with private ¢~

sel? A Yes, air,
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Q That is true, isn't 1t, snd T saw yout
A Yes, sir.
BY MR, XRESRIL:

1

Q Who is the private counseld? A T den't know,

Q Why did veu answer “yea" when yeu were asked shethor
you talked with private counsel? A T den't knew ‘!” _. |
he is & counssl or net. 5 ~:'"_'”" :
- Q@ Te whem did vou speak? A To that gentlenan m :
there, |

Q You memn Mr, Pentesest? A Yes, ctr'. ,

Q Trom what Mr, Penteecest teld you, were you influensed '
in any way in vour testimeny here? A Ne, sir.

Q Nid he tell yeu what te say? A Ne, llr..

Q Besides watehing the house to leek for the mum.
0id yvoau de anything else to looste him? A  Yes; wsir.

Q What did yeu de? A We tried te gt Anformmtien
wvhere he was werking.

THE COURT: Strike it eut.

Q. What else dAd yeu de hesidesr watdhing eutside?
A We tried the bast we could te plase him.

Q Did yai have anybhody else losking for him? A Yes,
#ir, my pertner and saee stranger.,

THE COURT: Strike that eut.
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Q@ Do you knew the janitor of the premises 2076 ﬁaﬁ #
avenmw? A Yesn, nir, i v. ,

Q Did yeu inguire of him in refersnce te the M
A Yes, sir. o

BY MR, PAIMIERI:

Q@ Whe i» your partner that investigated this ease;
wvhat is his name? A Offiecer Mangems,

Q@ Is he hare in court? A Yesn, sir,

VIRGINIA ALDRRISIO, avitness for mnw.
called in ro\mttl.l be ng auly swern, testified as foum i
DIRKCT nmnwm\' BY MF‘. KRR

Q Where de yau live? A 2076 Firat ml\u..

Q Yeu live &t 2076 Pirst avenue, is that righty A :
Yes, sir. |

Q Are you & silster in law of Demenice Alderisief
A Yes, pir,

Q@ Yeu are merried to one of his brethers?
A Yews, nir.

Q De you know Mrs, NDeresa? A Yes, sir,

Q Nid you swe her on the 27th of Negember, 1904%
A Yen, »ir.

Q N4 you haw & soversstien with her absut the sheet-
ing? A Yesn, sir.

Q Ve Demenies Alderisie there at the time?
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A Yes, nir,

. Q Was yoeur other sister in law there st t;h.o t ime?

A Yes, nir,

% Q During that cosmr-.um did Mra. Derosa mn yﬂﬁ
| coat? A Yenm, wir, anmt & Mt. ‘
Q@ What sort of & ceat vas 447 A It vam & gray el

ashy ceoler.,

CRO 88=~EXAMINATION RY MR. PALMIRRE;
\ Q You lived downetairs en the fLvat ”lﬂ'. tl M w
A‘ *On the secend t'loor.

Q Mrs, Derosa, the wife of this defendant, went wp- ;
stairs for a coat and brought it dewm fer you te leek &k, is
that right? A fhe sent the hat and ceat by & Jitide girld
dewnstairs.

Q Her little girl? A Yewn, sir; it vas her daughter;
ghe didn't bring 1t dewm harself.

Q Mrs. Derosa A4 A Yew, sir,

Q Wasn't the wife present when the goat was breught
dewn? A No, air; the wife was away; she sent the ceat bask
by the little zirl.

Q@ Then the sir breught the ceat dewn feor you te¢ sanmine

and after vou examined it the girl breught it wetairs aguint



A Yesn, sir; she sarried it upstairs bask, .
Q Inte the reoems of the defendant, whers he wAS arrest-
ed? ? _A Yes, air, . |

Q,} Then vau were comvineed that this defendent did the

shooting after yveu saw the cost? VB il *“
Objected to. Objestion sustained. mru-. tid
R Te wvham di¢ you repert this fast? ' P :
Obhjected te, :
BY THE COURT: "

Q Did yeu aver tell nﬂ«ty sbeut this? A Ne, miv
Q You didn't tell mmybedy sbeut it st sdif A Ne, sdr,
Q Didn't you tell) the pelice? A Ne, wir, nething
about the ceat. |
Q 90 that the irst time you ever said & werd dbeut

the comt is te~-day? A Yesn, sir, the first time,

MR. KRESEL: The pe eple rest.

MR, PAIMIERYI: T notige the ether offieer is
in eourt and he was net uuu'.

THE COURT: Have you any ether witnesses?

MR. KRRAEL: Ne, sir.

MR, PAIMIERI: T will rest.

TRAETIMONY CLOSED.
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